

Brigham Young University BYU ScholarsArchive

Theses and Dissertations

2023-06-22

# Meet Them Where They Scroll: A Meta-Analytic Review of Teen and Young Adult Dating Violence Prevention Programs

Aeriel Grace Halstead Brigham Young University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd

Part of the Family, Life Course, and Society Commons

#### **BYU ScholarsArchive Citation**

Halstead, Aeriel Grace, "Meet Them Where They Scroll: A Meta-Analytic Review of Teen and Young Adult Dating Violence Prevention Programs" (2023). *Theses and Dissertations*. 10034. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/10034

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact ellen\_amatangelo@byu.edu.

Meet Them Where They Scroll: A Meta-Analytic

Review of Teen and Young Adult Dating

Violence Prevention Programs

Aeriel Grace Halstead

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Scott R. Braithwaite, Chair Alan J. Hawkins Jason B. Whiting Julianne Holt-Lunstad

Department of Psychology

Brigham Young University

Copyright © 2023 Aeriel Grace Halstead

All Rights Reserved

#### ABSTRACT

#### Meet Them Where They Scroll: A Meta-Analytic Review of Teen and Young Adult Dating Violence Prevention Programs

Aeriel Grace Halstead Department of Psychology, BYU Doctor of Philosophy

The public is often surprised by the high prevalence of relationship violence. With more than 50% of adults experiencing some form of physical or psychological violence in their intimate relationships during their lifetime, IPV is a public health crisis that particularly affects marginalized communities (Breiding et al., 2015; Johns et al., 2019, 2020; Stockman et al., 2015). The variable results of perpetrator and victim treatments make prevention particularly important if it is effective (Anderson & Van Ee, 2018; Babcock et al., 2004; Cheng et al., 2021; Karakurt et al., 2019; Maguire, 2018; Stith, Rosen, et al., 2004; Stover et al., 2009). Thus, researchers are interested in developing empirically tested programs that reduce IPV (Jennings et al., 2017; Niolon et al., 2017).

The current meta-analysis builds on the existing literature by analyzing the broad effectiveness of IPV primary prevention in adolescence and young adulthood while specifically analyzing the moderator of novel intervention methods (e.g., online, mobile app, or mailed interventions). Additional moderators included age; gender; at-risk populations; intervention type, whether focused on IPV or relationship health; setting, whether school or community; and length of the intervention.

Looking at the included studies as a whole, the aggregate of the intervention outcomes indicates that there is a small but significant positive effect from primary prevention programs (d = 0.175, k = 47, p < 0.001). As broad categories, attitudes (d = 0.166, k = 29, p < 0.001), knowledge (d = 0.212, k = 12, p < 0.001), and behaviors (d = 0.160, k = 36, p < 0.001) had small, significant effect sizes. Taken together, IPV primary prevention programs were able to successfully address their targeted outcomes in these domains. There was not a significant difference between facilitated and self-directed prevention programs ( $d_F = 0.177$ , k = 39, p <0.001;  $d_{SD} = 0.160$ , k = 8, p = 0.132; Q = 0.023, p = 0.878). These findings have important implications for IPV prevention strategies and interventions. Although the effect size is described as small, even small reductions in IPV can have a significant impact on behavior that impacts millions of people and is costly economically and socially. Future research should further explore self-directed programs and extend our work to LGBTQ+ populations.

Keywords: intimate partner violence, primary prevention, meta-analysis

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

It is an immense privilege to pursue a doctoral degree. A privilege to feel a calling to a field and a body of research. A privilege to have the space, resources, and capacity to pursue it. A privilege to follow a passion to the highest level of education. But it is an exacting privilege, that demands profound sacrifice. I would be dishonest to say the sacrifices were only made by me.

Thank you to my committee, for their investment into my development as a researcher and support in completing this project. Thank you to my supervisors and mentors who helped ground my research in its clinical applications.

Thank you to my partner and best friend, Devin, who supported me tirelessly. There is no degree for carrying someone through a dissertation. But you have my forever gratitude for every meal and energy drink and encouraging word. I would not have made it here without you. Thank you to my best friend and partner, Karys, who made even the most difficult moments rich. Thank you for being the light in some of the darkest moments. I cannot think of anyone who I would rather do endless Pomodoros with.

Thank you to the people who proved that love can bend space and time and supported me from afar. To my siblings, Tiffany, Eddie, Kristen, and Jenny, who remain my happiest place and were always a car ride away to rescue me. To my parents for the support that knows no limits or conditions. To my Grandma Val, who may have single-handedly prayed me into every success. To my nephew Leon, who is my every unbridled joy contained in one little frame. To my soulmate and person, Katie, who has loved me unconditionally in every form which makes all of life more bearable. And to my best friend and inspiration, Jason, who has proved even death cannot keep him from loving someone well. Thank you for continuing to motivate me and breaking every law of physics to show that love continues on.

And finally, but most importantly, the deepest appreciation to my mother, Sunny, who has always been the brightest part of my life. Thank you for being an eternal reminder of the unconquerable goodness in the world. Of the possibility to respond to all of life's pain with grace. Of the indomitable strength of kindness. Thank you for loving me into the person I am, and for giving and then seeing the best in me. You made every demanding sacrifice willingly for my benefit. You lived to the highest meaning of motherhood and made every achievement of mine possible. This degree belongs more to you than anyone else, because it would not exist without you.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE	i
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	. vii
Introduction	1
What is Intimate Partner Violence? A Historical Review	2
Coercive Controlling Violence	3
Violent Resistance	6
Separation-Instigated Violence	6
Situational Couple Violence	7
Why Does Intimate Partner Violence Occur? A Literature Review	8
Feminist Theories	8
Social Learning Theory	9
Vulnerability-Stress-Adaptation Model	9
Contextual Framework	. 10
When and for Whom is Intimate Partner Violence Occurring?	. 11
Why Primary Prevention for Intimate Partner Violence?	. 14
What Does Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Target?	. 16
What Have Previous Primary Prevention Meta-Analyses Shown?	. 18
The Current Study	. 23
Method	. 24
Search Procedure	. 24
Selection and Inclusion Criteria	. 25
Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Program	. 25
Age	. 26
Outcome Data	. 26
Study Design	27
Publication Status	27
Publication Date	28
Coding	28

Addressing Bias	
Power	
Data Analysis	
Results	
Descriptive Statistics	
Primary analyses	
Discussion	
Effectiveness of IPV Prevention Programs	
Attitudes, Knowledge, and Behaviors	
Attitude Towards Behavior	
Subjective Norms	
Perceived Behavioral Control	49
Knowledge	49
Non-significant Changes in Relationship-Related Skills	50
Planned Moderator Analyses	51
Theoretical Implications	54
Limitations and Future Directions	56
Strengths	60
Conclusion	61
References	
Appendix A	80
List of Included Studies	80

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Moderator Coding Structure	. 32
Table 2: Descriptive Statistics of Included Studies	38
Table 3: Effect Sizes for Outcome Categories	41
Table 4: Results of Planned Moderator Analyses	. 46

### **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1: Flow Chart of Inclusion/Exclusion Decisions	. 29
Figure 2: Trim and Fill Plot for General Success Effect Sizes	. 43
Figure 3: Trim and Fill Plot for Attitude Effect Sizes	. 43
Figure 4: Trim and Fill Plot for Knowledge Effect Sizes	. 44
Figure 5: Trim and Fill Plot for Behavioral Effect Sizes	. 44

# Meet Them Where They Scroll: A Meta-Analytic Review of Teen and Young Adult Dating Violence Prevention Programs

If the adage holds true that the best offense is a good defense, then the most productive way to address intimate partner violence (IPV) is to prevent it from occurring. Addressing IPV is likely to begin with an understanding of its scope. The public is often surprised by the high prevalence of relationship violence. With more than 50% of adults experiencing some form of physical or psychological violence in their intimate relationships during their lifetime, IPV is a public health crisis that particularly affects marginalized communities (Breiding et al., 2015; Johns et al., 2019, 2020; Stockman et al., 2015). One in four American women and almost one in 10 American men experience physical or sexual violence and/or stalking (Smith et al., 2018). Each of the individuals in this study reported that IPV meaningfully impacted their lives. And these data did not include the more than 80 million people who experience psychological aggression that can also harm mental and physical health (Kelly, 2004; Smith et al., 2018).

Because of the painful impact of IPV, scholars and clinicians have sought to prevent it from occurring. These preventative interventions have varied by their modality (e.g., in-person instruction vs. self-directed programs), their targeted population (e.g., high-risk vs. general population, gender or sexual orientation), length, age of participants, and the primary purpose of the intervention (e.g., designed to reduce IPV or designed to increase relationship health). With the recent events of COVID-19, there is increased awareness of the need for treatments and prevention that are accessible. This variability leads to gaps in our understanding of what components are included in prevention and which are effective. In the present meta-analysis, I will address these gaps for primary IPV prevention effectiveness in teens and young adults. I aim to specifically understand whether novel methods of disseminating IPV interventions are equally effective as a moderator. In addition, I will assess success by target population, intervention length, and program aims.

#### What is Intimate Partner Violence? A Historical Review

The term IPV can mean different things to different people. Lay conceptualizations may conjure images of "battered womxn" as portrayed in media and anti-violence campaigns. Too many may have their own understanding from personal experience with IPV. Because a lack of clarity about how IPV is operationalized can create confusion, researchers have attempted to reach a consensus on what constitutes IPV. The Center for Disease Control in the United States developed the following definition of IPV to guide research: "Intimate partner violence includes physical violence, sexual violence, stalking and psychological aggression (including coercive tactics) by a current or former intimate partner (i.e., spouse, boyfriend/girlfriend, dating partner or ongoing sexual partner)" (Breiding et al., 2015, p. 11). This definition, while providing a uniform and discrete framework for IPV, covers a broad range of behaviors that can occur at different developmental phases of the relationship.

But do all manifestations of IPV produce similar outcomes? Are the relationship dynamics the same in all relationships that include IPV? And why is it important to consider such a wide range of behaviors in intimate relationships (e.g., physical, psychological, and sexual aggression)? Questions like these prompted research into how to best classify distinct types of IPV. The initial classification began in the 1990s because of discrepancies in reports about the gender distribution of IPV perpetrators (Johnson, 1995). Two terms called "patriarchal terrorism" and "common couple violence" described the initial separation between types of violence (Johnson, 1995). Data from large-sample surveys indicate that IPV is split in gender between men and women. Quantitative and qualitative data from the courts, domestic violence shelters, and police reports indicate that men perpetrate violence against women at significantly higher rates (Johnson, 1995). Common couple violence is described as the tendency for some couples to experience occasional outbursts that result in violence that is usually less severe (e.g., escalating tension that leads to pushing or slapping). This contrasts with patriarchal terrorism, which is mostly perpetrated by men. Patriarchal terrorism is characterized by more frequent violence on average and is embedded in a broader context of power and control within the relationship. Over time, the classification system adapted and was expanded to include Coercive Controlling Violence, Violent Resistance, Situational Couple Violence, and Separation-Instigated Violence (Kelly & Johnson, 2008). Each of these is explained in more detail below.

#### **Coercive Controlling Violence**

Coercive controlling violence is what people usually think of when they hear the term domestic violence. It is the type of IPV commonly reported on the news and displayed on television. The label for this form of violence evolved from patriarchal terrorism to intimate partner terrorism to coercive controlling violence, which is the term currently used in the IPV literature. This violence is not exclusively perpetrated by men, so the term patriarchal is inaccurate, and the term "terrorism" can be sensationalized and impractical for settings like court (Kelly & Johnson, 2008). The words "coercive control" are more descriptive of the phenomenon's defining features of exerting power over the partner and controlling much of their life: violence is only a part of this sub-type of IPV (Kelly & Johnson, 2008).

Understanding coercive controlling violence is really about understanding the dynamics of power and control in these abusive relationships. The Duluth Model was created to provide education to men who batter to reduce the likelihood of continued perpetration (Pence et al., 1993). As a part of its development, qualitative interviews were used to develop a Power and Control "Wheel" that illuminates the most common tactics used to generate and maintain power and control (Pence et al., 1993). Abusive partners use a combination of emotional abuse (e.g., insults, humiliation, undermining a sense of reality); isolation (e.g., generating separation between the victim and various possible support networks); minimizing, denying, and blaming (e.g., downplaying, shifting or rejecting responsibility); using children (e.g., as messengers, and to threaten or maintain the relationship); using male privilege (e.g., utilizing patriarchal norms to make large decisions or enforce gender norms); economic abuse (e.g., isolation from work and money); coercion and threats (e.g., threats of violence, suicide, legal sanctions); and intimidation (e.g., the use of gestures, actions or appearances to intimidate including destroying property or harming pets; Pence et al., 1993).

Not every form of abusive behavior listed in the Duluth model will be used by every perpetrator. Instead, they are seen as some of the common tactics that are used to structure a relationship where the victim is systematically stripped of power and control in multiple areas of their life. Thus, these potential methods of power and control can be seen as the spokes of an abuse wheel. The outer edge of the wheel, surrounding the spokes and holding them together, is physical and sexual violence. Violence (or the threat of violence and sexual violence) is not the only abuse occurring but is the over-arching and maintaining fear that perpetrates the power and control (Pence et al., 1993). When victims are afraid that violence will occur, they are easier to control.

The power and control wheel provides a model to conceptualize the coercion in coercive controlling violence, but it is not perfect. For instance, the original wheel assumes that all abusers perpetrating this form of violence are men. Broadly, the power and control wheel is not complete. IPV literature has not accurately accounted for the systemic inequalities that contribute to perpetration in marginalized communities (Chavis & Hill, 2008). Advocates are working on expanding the power and control wheel in ways that acknowledge the intersecting identities of victims that might shape their experiences and access to resources (e.g., sexual orientation, age, ability, race, religion/spirituality, class, and gender; Chavis & Hill, 2008). A Multicultural Power and Control Wheel using an ecological model takes into account structural barriers (Chavis & Hill, 2008) and is one of many power and control wheels that provide additional perspectives for diverse individuals who experience IPV ("Wheel Gallery," n.d.). It can also provide perspective on the perpetrators.

It is critical for researchers to understand the power and control dynamics like those outlined by the power and control wheels. Because IPV encompasses physical, psychological, and sexual aggression, we might interpret the construct as too broad to be studied or treated. This fact is exacerbated when we consider the contextual factors that influence couple outcomes and may be overlooked (e.g., diverse identities). The power and control wheel demonstrates the interdependence of all three forms of aggression as a singular construct with a collective impact. This is essential for clinicians to consider in preventing or treating one of the interrelated aspects of IPV. It also highlights how different behaviors can have the same underlying motivation. This connects diverse actions, perpetrators, and presentations under the umbrella of coercive controlling violence.

Coercive controlling violence is the type most often seen in institutionalized settings (e.g., courts, hospitals, and police stations) because the violence is more frequent and severe as a general rule (Kelly & Johnson, 2008). Perpetrators are more likely to be men, and women are the most likely to be seriously injured or killed through IPV, with 20-40% of female homicides occurring at the hand of an intimate partner (Cooper & Smith, 2011; Johnson & Leone, 2005). However, to answer the debate of gender that started the search for typologies, it is also clear that coercive controlling violence is perpetrated by women in both heterosexual and queer relationships, and this violence can be severe and pervasive (Ard & Makadon, 2011; Dutton & White, 2013).

#### Violent Resistance

Violent resistance describes the type of IPV where a victim uses self-defense against partners who perpetrate coercive controlling violence (Kelly & Johnson, 2008). Because of the legal implications of the term "self-defense," violent resistance is used to describe their behavior instead. Violent resistance typically occurs immediately after an assault as a way to protect themselves or others (Kelly & Johnson, 2008; Muftić et al., 2007). However, it should be noted that violent resistance does not only occur directly after violence has been initiated. Victims may use violent resistance to prevent future violence. In addition, this form of violence should not be considered less severe: it can have lethal consequences. Some women kill their abusers, although lethal resistance often happens after violence has been initiated by the perpetrator (Huss et al., 2006).

#### Separation-Instigated Violence

Separation-instigated violence describes episodes of violence, usually limited to one or two incidences, that occur at the end of a relationship (Kelly & Johnson, 2008). This violence lacks a pervasive pattern of power and control from either partner, has not previously been an aspect of their relationship, and is usually part of a difficult separation (Kelly & Johnson, 2008). It is unanticipated and can vary in its severity. It may include behaviors like the destruction of property, physical violence against the partner or another person (e.g., a discovered affair partner), or stalking behaviors (Kelly & Johnson, 2008).

#### Situational Couple Violence

Situational couple violence is the most common form of violence to occur between intimate partners. This sub-type was formerly known as common couple violence. Because it occurs most frequently, it was identified in survey data that screened for violence. Situational couple violence also has an equal gender distribution, which fueled the debate about the gender of perpetrators (Kelly & Johnson, 2008). Its frequency can lead to misconceptions about situational couple violence that are important to dispel.

Situational couple violence is usually less severe and less frequent, so some people believe that it is unlikely to lead to significant and severe consequences. Although situational couple violence does not include a pervasive pattern of power and control, it can lead to severe forms of violence that may even result in death (Kelly & Johnson, 2008). Women who are victims of situational couple violence are less likely to experience psychological and physical health concerns that require treatment than victims of coercive controlling violence (Johnson & Leone, 2005), but both men and women experience poor mental health outcomes as a consequence of this type of IPV (Afifi et al., 2009).

Situational couple violence and coercive controlling violence differ primarily in their development and context. Coercive controlling violence is distinguished by attempts to exert power and control over the partner, whereas situational couple violence occurs only when conflict escalates until violence is perpetrated (Kelly & Johnson, 2008). Thus poor communication skills, difficulty with managing conflict, attitudes regarding violence, and gender norms are all predictive of victimization and perpetration of situational couple violence (Bell & Naugle, 2008; Heise, 2011; Santana et al., 2006). Understanding these causes is an essential

7

aspect of identification, treatment, and prevention. If poor conflict management sets the stage for situational couple violence, conflict management skills may reduce its occurrence.

#### Why Does Intimate Partner Violence Occur? A Literature Review

A number of theories have been outlined over decades of research to explain IPV and its different typologies. These theories serve as the foundation for prevention and treatment programs, providing a framework for interventions.

#### **Feminist Theories**

Feminist theories of IPV look to contextualize the pattern of violence within the social and cultural landscape of patriarchal societies. More specifically, this violence is seen as the result of the inequality that women experience within society; the gender roles that assign womxn a subservient role and men positions of power; and the lack of access to resources in order to challenge or combat this violence (Dobash & Dobash, 1977; Walker, 2007). Early evidence supported these theories by demonstrating that gender norms (and traditional views related to these roles) are associated with a higher likelihood of IPV in relationships (Leonard & Senchak, 1996).

Gender norms became a primary target for IPV prevention to account for its influence on violence. However, the influence of gender norms is moderated by the conflict styles of the couple (Leonard & Senchak, 1996). There are also relationships with violence where the male partner does not prescribe to patriarchal ideas (Leonard & Senchak, 1996). Feminist theory likely sheds light on coercive controlling violence, where power and control are central features. It cannot adequately account for situational couple violence, however. Thus, addressing gender norms in prevention and treatment may be part of the intervention but is unlikely to provide a comprehensive reduction in violence.

#### Social Learning Theory

Social learning theory looks to explain human behavior by highlighting the role of observation and modeling (Bandura, 2017). Thus behaviors, attitudes, and emotions are partially formed by observing, imitating, and eventually adopting them. This can also be extended to violent and aggressive behaviors like IPV (Bandura, 1973; Mihalic & Elliott, 1997). From this theoretical perspective, individuals who have witnessed aggressive or violent behavior, particularly in the intimate relationships they may have observed while young, are more likely to engage in that behavior during their own adolescence and adulthood (Bandura, 1973; Mihalic & Elliott, 1997). This has been supported by evidence that suggests witnessing IPV at a young age increases the risk of both IPV victimization and perpetration (Roberts et al., 2010; Shook et al., 2000; Temple et al., 2013; Whitfield et al., 2003; Wood & Sommers, 2011).

Social learning theory can inform interventions but cannot fully prescribe intervention methods. This theory does provide insight into the impact of observing violence and contributing factors that lend to IPV, but it is limited in its ability to explain IPV perpetration in individuals who have not witnessed it in childhood. In addition, static and distal risk factors like childhood experience can have limited impacts on prevention and treatment strategies for IPV in later life (Bell & Naugle, 2008). However, it does provide a potential target population. Individuals who have witnessed IPV are at an increased risk of being both perpetrators and victims (Whitfield et al., 2003). This creates a target population of at-risk youths who may particularly benefit from IPV prevention programs. Limited intervention resources can dictate that prevention strategies be emphasized for those who are most at risk.

#### Vulnerability-Stress-Adaptation Model

The vulnerability-stress-adaptation (VSA) model was designed to broadly understand the way that romantic relationships function and satisfaction is achieved (Karney & Bradbury, 1995). Within this model, relationship quality is impacted by a combination of each partner's vulnerability (e.g., genetic traits, personality traits, lived experiences), stressful events or circumstances that arise (e.g., infidelity, job loss), and the adaptive processes that they can employ (e.g., communication, conflict management, problem-solving; Karney & Bradbury, 1995). This model has been applied to IPV, explaining ways that perpetrator vulnerabilities (e.g., aggressiveness and impulsivity), stressors, and inadequate adaptive processes are predictive of higher rates of IPV (Langer et al., 2008).

The VSA model accounts for gaps outlined in the previous two theories. It builds substantially through its ability to account for previous experiences (e.g., witnessing IPV in childhood) while allowing for alternative explanations that relate more to life stressors and poor coping mechanisms. The VSA provides the most coherent explanation for situational couple violence thus far. Situational factors and poor relational skills (e.g., coping, conflict management, and communication) can lead to violence in relationships that might otherwise be satisfying. Importantly, adaptive processes generate leads for treatment and prevention. They can be targeted in interventions to reduce unhealthy or violent responses. However, this model does not account for all of the contextual factors that may contribute to or maintain IPV (e.g., systemic oppression, poverty, or functional analysis of the violence).

#### **Contextual Framework**

The contextual framework model of IPV sought to build on previous theories by providing the opportunity to assess micro and macro-level contextual factors that surround individual IPV events and/or couples (Bell & Naugle, 2008). More specifically, the model shows

that target physical violence behaviors are caused and maintained by a number of variables: motivating factors (e.g., substance use, distress, satisfaction); antecedents which can be distal (e.g., childhood experiences, personality characteristics, genetics) or proximal (e.g., conflict occurring in the relationship, current and recent stressors); discriminative stimuli (e.g., who is present in the room, where is it occurring, are there weapons present); behavioral repertoire (e.g., skills for coping, problem-solving, emotion regulation, conflict, etc.); verbal rules (e.g., stated beliefs about violence, gender, relationships, conflict, substance use); and finally, the ways that consequences of IPV target behaviors can ultimately maintain them (e.g., violence reducing distress, avoiding the conflict, control of the partner, criminal charges; Bell & Naugle, 2008).

The contextual framework model provides the most comprehensive explanation for both coercive controlling and situational couple violence. It takes principles from feminist, social learning, and VSA theories and builds a comprehensive model. It pulls from the same research pool that indicates gender attitudes, previous experiences, and adaptive strategies influence IPV while connecting the adaptive consequences of IPV that maintain the behavior. Researchers can understand coercive controlling violence through the adaptiveness of the consequences: it allows the abuser to maintain control. Situational couple violence is caused by a limited behavioral repertoire in response to antecedents. More importantly, the model allows for a flexible application of these factors depending on each unique relationship, which can change over time. This has implications for intervention targets.

#### When and for Whom is Intimate Partner Violence Occurring?

Beyond the "why" of IPV, who it happens to, and when it occurs contribute to prevention and treatment. Given a contextual framework, the demographic factors of victims provide important clues to interventions. This includes who interventions should be targeted at and when they should occur in the lifespan. Primary prevention should include interventions beginning at or around adolescence, targeted at both men and women, and focusing on those who are at a higher risk for victimization or perpetration.

Lay conceptualizations of IPV might incorrectly lend to the belief that it is an inherently adult problem. Domestic violence shelters, media content, and publicly displayed court cases often involve adult, married, or cohabitating relationships. In spite of this, most individuals report that their first experience with physical violence, rape/sexual assault, or stalking by a romantic partner occurred before the age of 18 (Smith et al., 2018). Between 13 and 61% of women worldwide report physical or sexual violence from an intimate partner between 15 and 49 years of age: indicating that these behaviors begin during adolescence (Garcia-Moreno et al., 2005). The riskiest period for violence will guide the period of intervention.

IPV occurs most frequently in adolescence and young adulthood, with the highest risk occurring between 15 and 30 years of age (Brown & Bulanda, 2008; Catallozzi et al., 2011; Cui et al., 2013; Hickman et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 2015; Rivara et al., 2009; Smith et al., 2018). This prevalence exists in rural and national samples. Twenty-five percent of rural middle-school students had experienced IPV (Foshee et al., 1996). In a national survey, 63% of adolescents 12-18 who had been in a romantic relationship reported perpetrating one form of IPV, and 69% reported being a victim of this violence (Lee & Wong, 2022). A broad pattern shows that the risk of IPV begins in adolescence and declines with age. (Capaldi et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2008; Rodriguez et al., 2001; Stith, Smith, et al., 2004). This is consistent with the idea that people in their youth are more likely to be impulsive and that people develop more self-control, warmth, and emotional stability with age (Roberts & Mroczek, 2008). Interventions targeted at preventing the first occurrence of IPV must be applied to adolescents and young adults to be effective.

Gender is another relevant demographic feature that can impact intervention. Researchers have debated the gender of IPV victims and perpetrators for decades (Kelly & Johnson, 2008). Since that time, it has become clear that all types of IPV are perpetrated by both men and women (Capaldi et al., 2012; Kelly & Johnson, 2008; Rodriguez et al., 2001). Women are equally, if not more likely to use physical violence against their male partners (Capaldi et al., 2012). Although women are also more likely to be seriously injured by their male partners (Capaldi et al., 2012), physical abuse has impacts on physical and mental health regardless of the physical injury caused by the violence (Breiding et al., 2008; Coker et al., 2000; Smith et al., 2018; Warshaw et al., 2009). Additional research is necessary for an understanding of the ways that IPV impacts LGBTQIA+ relationships and perpetration rates in genderqueer and fluid individuals. The current body of literature justifies men and women both as appropriate targets of prevention and intervention strategies as both victims and perpetrators.

In addition to age and gender, many factors are related to both IPV perpetration and victimization that can impact intervention. These include lower-income, low education, job instability, adverse childhood events, stress, anxiety, antisocial traits, attitudes related to violence and gender, a history of violence or criminality, substance use disorders, unhealthy communication patterns, high levels of couple conflict, an association with peers who engage in IPV behaviors, poverty, and systemic barriers (Browning, 2002; Capaldi et al., 2012; Reyes et al., 2016; Stith, Smith, et al., 2004; Vagi et al., 2013). Beyond these factors, sexual orientation and gender minorities, as well as women of color, are disproportionally impacted by IPV perpetration (Breiding et al., 2015; Johns et al., 2019, 2020; Stockman et al., 2015). IPV prevention is likely to have the greatest impact on populations at the greatest risk. Prevention

programs that target individuals based on key demographic or experiential factors may increase the intervention's effectiveness.

#### Why Primary Prevention for Intimate Partner Violence?

The consequences of IPV are broad and pervasive, impacting the physical and psychological health of victims and witnesses while having additional impacts on society economically. The Centers for Disease Control generated a document to outline its costs and the possible means of addressing them (Niolon et al., 2017), highlighting that prevention is the most important means of reducing the impact of IPV on individuals and communities.

Physical costs are a primary concern when violence is enacted. Beyond the 41% of female victims and 17% of male victims who experience physical injuries as a result of violence (Breiding et al., 2015), nearly 40% of female homicides and 16% of murders are the result of IPV (Cooper & Smith, 2011). There are also a host of physical disorders that can result indirectly from the stress and trauma of IPV and affect bodily systems and behaviors (e.g., cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, reproductive, musculoskeletal, nervous system, substance abuse, and HIV risk behaviors; Black, 2011; Breiding et al., 2008). In fact, women who experienced psychological violence alone with no physical violence were at an increased risk for work-limiting conditions, arthritis, pain conditions, migraines, stammering, sexually transmitted infections, and various gastrointestinal conditions (Coker et al., 2000). The fact that psychological aggression has similar physical outcomes as physical violence demonstrates the importance of including the broad behaviors that define the IPV construct (e.g., psychological, physical, sexual aggression, and stalking).

Physical symptoms are also inextricably linked with psychological symptoms. Psychologically, victims are more likely to experience depression, anxiety, PTSD, and somatization (Smith et al., 2018; Warshaw et al., 2009). Women who experienced both physical and psychological violence and women who experienced psychological violence alone were more likely to have both higher incidences and severity of depression, anxiety, PTSD, and suicidality with no statistically significant differences between women who did not experience physical violence (Pico-Alfonso et al., 2006). All forms of IPV have negative impacts on the mental health outcomes of the victims who experience them, and poor mental health extends beyond the individual.

IPV is considered a public health crisis because its impact reaches the broad public. The collective cost of medical treatment, mental health services, legal fees and services, and lost wages have a pervasive economic impact on society that was estimated at 5.8 billion dollars 20 years ago (Niolon et al., 2017), with a lifetime cost of \$103,767 for female victims and \$23,414 for male victims (Peterson et al., 2018). That estimate, by inflation alone, is likely to be an underestimate now. The only viable means to reduce these physical, psychological, and economic impacts is to prevent the violence from occurring. Primary interventions that can reduce later mental and physical health concerns will be less costly.

Primary prevention is more likely to reduce harm and cost than secondary or tertiary prevention. Primary prevention describes interventions that would reduce the likelihood of IPV before it occurs (Min et al., 2013). Secondary prevention would aim to detect IPV in its early stages and intervene before more serious impacts occur (Min et al., 2013). In an IPV context, that might include targeting high-conflict couples who demonstrate minor forms of psychological or physical violence in their relationships. Tertiary programs aim to treat the impacts and reduce relapse after IPV has already occurred (Min et al., 2013). Perpetrator and victim treatment programs would classify as tertiary prevention. Primary prevention programs thus result in the least mental, physical, and economic cost when they are effective. To develop these programs, researchers must consider whom they should target (e.g., men or women; Archer, 2000; Langhinrichsen-Rohling, 2010); what they should target (e.g., attitudes related to aggression or behaviors; Capaldi et al., 2007); and how it should be targeted (e.g., promoting aspects of a healthy relationship; Niolon et al., 2017). In addition to target populations, outcomes, and methods, researchers have to consider the modality of preventative measure dissemination (e.g., live instruction, mobile app, mailed booklet, etc.).

#### What Does Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Target?

IPV prevention programs generally target a few discrete criteria: 1) they look to change behaviors that are related to IPV or are considered risk factors for later perpetration, 2) they look to change attitudes that are related to violence, gender, or bystander roles and 3) they look to develop healthy relationship or bystander skills that will reduce IPV (Crooks et al., 2019; Lee & Wong, 2022; Leen et al., 2013).

The ultimate goal for most prevention programs is changing IPV behaviors. One of the primary strategies used by prevention programs to reduce the likelihood of IPV and aggressive behaviors is providing psychoeducation about IPV and its impacts (Foshee et al., 2005; Storer et al., 2016; Taylor et al., 2010). The idea behind this psychoeducation is that individuals may not understand what IPV is or the physical and psychological consequences associated with it. As people better understand the construct and its impact, they will inherently reduce the perpetrated behaviors. Essentially, it is believed that changing attitudes related to unhealthy behaviors will ultimately reduce the problematic behaviors themselves.

Psychoeducation can also change attitudes and beliefs related to IPV and bystander behaviors (Banyard et al., 2007; Cissner, 2009; Claussen, 2017; Coker et al., 2011; Foshee et al., 2005; Miller et al., 2012; Storer et al., 2016; Taylor et al., 2010; Taylor et al., 2017; Wolfe et al., 2003). These interventions seek to change attitudes and beliefs by defining IPV and describing its impacts, but also by generating a sense of efficacy in their ability to intervene and by dispelling myths related to IPV perpetration (e.g., gender norms, norms around sexual violence, and myths about who perpetrates). The noted connection between traditional gender norms and IPV (Leonard & Senchak, 1996) might indicate that addressing beliefs and attitudes may reduce IPV, particularly because individuals who have previously perpetrated IPV are more likely to have permissive attitudes and perpetrate again (Capaldi et al., 2012; Stith, Smith, et al., 2004). The causal direction of this link has not been explored, however. It is possible that permissive attitudes cause IPV, but it is also possible that people who perpetrate IPV reduce cognitive dissonance of undesirable behaviors by making internal justifications of their behavior. Changing attitudes may not be sufficient when behaviors need to change.

Considering this, many prevention programs aim to change behaviors by focusing on skills that can be gained as opposed to behaviors or attitudes that need to be eliminated (Foshee et al., 2005; Miller et al., 2012; Storer et al., 2016; Wolfe et al., 2008). This leans on wisdom indicating that the most successful prevention strategies do not simply try to reduce unwanted behaviors, but seek to develop strengths by adding more adaptive behaviors in their place (Crooks et al., 2019). These skills may focus on communication, healthy dating habits, or bystander interventions, but broadly seek to reduce IPV by developing behaviors that can either replace violence or reduce the likelihood that it will occur (Foshee et al., 2005; Miller et al., 2012; Storer et al., 2016; Wolfe et al., 2008).

It should be noted that some prevention programs are targeted specifically at individuals who may be at a higher risk for perpetration or victimization (e.g., those who have witnessed IPV; Ball et al., 2009; Foshee et al., 2015; National Research Council (US), 2009), but there has been a general failure to systematically study prevention programs with certain populations who are most at risk for IPV victimization (e.g., indigenous womxn, queer youth; Crooks et al., 2019). This failure to perform culturally responsive research for various at-risk demographics is a limitation in the current prevention literature that limits the generalizability of the current models and their broad aims.

Given the emphasis on psychoeducation and behavioral skills in current IPV prevention programs, we would anticipate that studies measuring their effectiveness will demonstrate an increased knowledge about IPV and its impact; altered attitudes and beliefs about IPV, gender, and bystander responsibilities; increased healthy and constructive relational skills; and a correlated decrease in IPV perpetration, victimization, and/or bystander behaviors. Correlations between changes in knowledge and attitude and changes in behavior would support theories of IPV that suggest attitudes cause violence (e.g., feminist theories). In addition, because IPV is an interrelated construct that includes physical violence, psychological aggression, sexual violence and stalking, studies should demonstrate that reductions in some IPV behaviors impact others.

#### What Have Previous Primary Prevention Meta-Analyses Shown?

Meta-analyses have already begun to explore the success of various programs, for various populations, in various settings. These include school-based dating violence prevention programs and studies targeting adolescents and young adults who are most at risk. Because adolescence marks the beginning of IPV risk, many programs have sought to provide prevention to school-aged children in an accessible setting when they are least likely to have experienced IPV (Edwards & Hinsz, 2014).

School programs have demonstrated effectiveness in changing attitudes or reducing behaviors (Edwards & Hinsz, 2014). The overall weighted mean effect size across eight included studies was r = 0.11 (CI[0.08, 0.15]). In general, there was a positive effect in prevention programs. However, they found it important to note that 25% of the studies had a negative effect size indicating that over time, participants became more accepting of IPV (Edwards & Hinsz, 2014). This meta-analysis required participants were between 8<sup>th</sup> and 12<sup>th</sup> grade; using a program to reduce IPV (either dating or sexual violence); with either attitudinal or behavioral outcome measures (Edwards & Hinsz, 2014). A final important finding related to a medium negative correlation between the age of the participants and the effect size, with younger participants having more favorable outcomes (r = -0.42).

Taken together, this meta-analysis provides insight into important considerations for future studies. The negative correlation with age indicates that it may be most effective to begin interventions at a younger age, as this may be the most appropriate age to shape attitudes and behaviors. It also lends support to the idea that attitudes and behaviors change together and that prevention strategies can regulate both. However, it is possible that their effect sizes are an overestimation because pre-post studies were used in the meta-analysis. The lack of a control group in pre-post study designs leads to larger effect sizes that can artificially inflate effectiveness (Hawkins et al., 2020).

A meta-analysis of school-based programs using experimental or quasi-experimental designs extended these results with increased effect size accuracy (De La Rue et al., 2017). The study targeted individuals in middle or high school; included outcomes that measure knowledge, attitudes, and IPV; and included sexual aggression and sexual violence programs. Their meta-analysis of 23 studies indicated that there was a positive effect size of SMD = 0.22 on increasing

IPV knowledge (CI[0.05, 0.39]) and an improvement in attitudes related to IPV with an effect size of SMD = 0.14 (CI[0.10, 0.19]; De La Rue et al., 2017). However, they did not find significant effects on IPV perpetration and victimization. They recommend that programs continue to incorporate skill-building components (De La Rue et al., 2017).

This meta-analysis, in contrast to the previous meta-analysis of school-based interventions, questions the connection between attitudes and behaviors. When including studies with more conservative estimates of effect sizes, the connection between attitudes and behaviors diminished. It is possible that IPV prevention programs alter attitudes, but do not ultimately impact victimization and perpetration. Attitudes may not be necessary or sufficient for reducing IPV, at least within a school-based program.

In a meta-analysis looking broadly at adolescents and young adults, without specifying location or requiring experimental or quasi-experimental designs, IPV prevention programs broadly increased knowledge with an effect size of d = 0.57 (z = 3.59), altered attitudes in a favorable direction with an effect size of d = 0.19 (z = 3.88), and decreased violence perpetration with an effect size of d = 0.16 (z = 3.11). Of note, there were no statistically significant effects on reducing victimization or increasing bystander behaviors. Studies were included if they had dating violence prevention or education for adolescent participants; there was at least a single quantitative outcome measure that is related to knowledge, attitudes, behaviors (either violence or victimization or bystander); an effect size was calculable; and was either experimental, quasi-experimental or pre-test post-test in research design (Lee & Wong, 2022). They noted that a major limitation within the literature is the lacking of longitudinal studies which limits the long-term generalizability of these results, particularly considering that the risks of IPV extend beyond adolescence into adulthood (Lee & Wong, 2022). Again, the connection between knowledge,

attitudes and behaviors were maintained. However, there was more impact on knowledge than attitudes or behaviors.

In a meta-analysis requiring an experimental or quasi-experimental design at the middle, high school and college level were assessed (Fellmeth et al., 2013). The 33 included studies needed to have a measure for IPV victimization, improvement in mental health, reductions in IPV and/or increased knowledge about dating violence. Eight studies were included for the analysis of IPV behaviors; however, there was heterogeneity within these studies that prevented an analysis. Twenty-two studies analyzed improvements in attitudes and beliefs related to IPV but found a nonsignificant standardized mean difference (SMD = 0.06; CI[-0.31, 0.16]). Similarly, studies that measured increased knowledge had significant heterogeneity that reduced confidence (SMD = 0.44; CI[0.28, 0.20]; Fellmeth et al., 2013). This indicated that there was no reliable evidence that prevention programs impact the attitudes, skills, or behaviors related to IPV.

Taken together a number of gaps appear within the literature: inconsistency in results, a failure to account for important target demographics, the length of the intervention, the type of intervention and its method of dissemination. Some studies indicate that prevention programs help to improve attitudes and behaviors, and some indicate attitudes but not behaviors are impacted. Further exploration of the link between attitudes and behaviors will add clarity to the existing literature and the theories that conceptualize IPV. The current meta-analyses do not moderate for the target population and if they are at an increased risk for IPV. At-risk populations will likely have greater impacts as IPV is more likely to occur in these high-risk groups. In addition, no meta-analysis has expanded the age range to include young adults who fall within the age range of highest risk, 15-24 (Brown & Bulanda, 2008; Catallozzi et al., 2011;

Cui et al., 2013; Hickman et al., 2004; Smith et al., 2018). Another important consideration is the dosage of intervention. How long should interventions be to achieve success? In addition to length, these effects may be moderated by the primary purpose of the intervention: to reduce IPV or to improve relational health with IPV reduction as a potential outcome. This study will also include programs that aim to reduce sexual violence and analyze a distinct set of moderators that have never been explored in this combination (e.g., the programs primary aim, method of dissemination, population, length, etc.). This allows for a collection of significantly more studies to assess the broad spectrum of primary programs that can reduce IPV.

Affinal major gap within the existing meta-analysis literature, is the exploration of primary IPV preventions that incorporate novel methods of dissemination. Studies of online or distance interventions (i.e., those that are mailed, app-based, or otherwise self-directed) thus far have focused on assisting victims who have already experienced IPV. In order to focus on reducing the harmful impacts, this will require looking more closely at ways to provide primary interventions that are accessible to diverse groups. The COVID-19 pandemic revealed that digital interventions can expand access and treatment responsiveness to address mental health concerns (Moreno et al., 2020).

Previous research has demonstrated that online IPV intervention programs are able to successfully reduce participants' mental health concerns (i.e., anger and depression), as well as reduce psychological and physical violence perpetration compared to controls (Spencer et al., 2021). These findings corroborate research that suggests online interventions are able to provide a viable alternative to facilitated programs in addressing mental health concerns (Moreno et al., 2020). In spite of this hopeful trend, no meta-analysis has specifically sought to explore

dissemination method as a moderator while looking at both facilitated and self-directed programs.

Flexible interventions can increase accessibility to individuals with limited transportation, limited financial resources, in rural areas, and generally increase the number of individuals who can be reached. When considering the risk factors for IPV (e.g., low education, job instability, adverse childhood events, stress, poverty, and systemic barriers), it becomes clear that the accessibility of prevention programs is an essential consideration. Reduction of IPV in the most at-risk populations requires that we attend to programs that can be disseminated in spaces with limited resources. Thus, a primary aim of this study is to understand the efficacy of both selfguided and direct services aimed at preventing IPV. This meta-analysis will seek to understand the efficacy of both distance and direct services aimed at preventing IPV.

#### The Current Study

The variable results of perpetrator and victim treatments make prevention particularly important if it is effective (Anderson & Van Ee, 2018; Babcock et al., 2004; Cheng et al., 2021; Karakurt et al., 2019; Maguire, 2018; Stith, Rosen, et al., 2004; Stover et al., 2009). Thus, researchers are interested in developing empirically tested programs that reduce IPV (Jennings et al., 2017; Niolon et al., 2017). To develop these programs, they must consider whom they should target (e.g., men and/or women; Archer, 2000; Langhinrichsen-Rohling, 2010); what they should target (e.g., attitudes related to aggression or behaviors; (Capaldi et al., 2007); and how it should be targeted (e.g., promoting aspects of a healthy relationship; (Niolon et al., 2017). In addition to target populations, outcomes, and methods, researchers have to consider how to deliver the intervention (e.g., live instruction, mobile app, mailed booklet, etc.). The current study aimed to conduct a meta-analysis that builds upon the existing literature by analyzing the broad effectiveness of IPV primary preventions in adolescence and young adulthood, while specifically analyzing the moderator of novel intervention methods (e.g., online, mobile app or mailed interventions). This study also expanded on previous meta-analyses by considering programs that do not singularly target IPV but may also address broad relationship health. This allowed the exploration of considering the effectiveness of strengthsbased approaches to reducing IPV. Additional moderators included age; gender; at-risk populations; school or community-based programs; and intervention length. Outcomes included measures of attitudes, changes in knowledge, and behaviors. Experimental and quasiexperimental studies were included to gain an accurate and rigorous understanding of the state of the literature, methodological strengths and weaknesses, and clinical implications of primary prevention interventions. Overall, I hypothesized that IPV prevention programs will improve attitudes, but not reduce behaviors. This trend was hypothesized to hold true whether the method of dissemination was in-person or distance.

#### Method

#### **Search Procedure**

In order to maximize the likelihood of finding all relevant studies, I searched for articles using two main methods. The first included the search of various databases including Embase, MEDLINE, Web of Science, Google Scholar and APA Psycinfo. These selected databases have been shown to optimize searches in systematic literature analysis to provide the most unique and subject specific articles (Bramer et al., 2017). The search terms included combinations of the following terms: "teen OR adolescent OR youth OR young adult" AND "dating violence OR intimate partner violence OR relationship violence OR dating abuse OR relationship abuse OR abuse OR partner abuse OR intimate partner aggression" AND "relationship health OR healthy relationship" AND "program OR education OR treatment OR intervention OR prevention" AND "efficacy OR effectiveness." To assess for possible online and distance interventions, the phrases "online OR technology based OR mobile OR mobile app OR email OR mail OR internet OR phone OR smartphone OR apps OR applications" were used in addition to the above combinations. Secondly, I used the references of the discovered articles to search for previously completed studies that are relevant, including previously conducted systematic literature reviews and meta-analyses.

#### **Selection and Inclusion Criteria**

A list of titles was collected and reviewed by two undergraduate research assistants and myself who verified that the studies include the assessment of an IPV prevention program, or a relationship health program that measures either attitudes related to IPV, or its impacts on the eventual perpetration or victimization of IPV. Studies that assess an IPV prevention program were moved to a database for coding. I coded each study along with a second undergraduate research assistant (RA) who received training on the variables to look for and how to find the necessary statistics. I provided feedback during the training period. Discrepancies between my coding and the undergraduate RA were addressed by looking to the original source. If a manuscript did not contain the answer or the necessary statistic, the author of the article was contacted, if possible.

#### Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Program

Studies were included if they used a primary prevention program that seeks to target some component of IPV. This can include physical, psychological or sexual aggression. Although this is a broad construct, research indicates that physical violence and psychological aggression both impact physical and mental health and both can frequently co-occur (Black, 2011; Breiding et al., 2008; Coker et al., 2011; Pico-Alfonso et al., 2006; Smith et al., 2018; Warshaw et al., 2009). Eliminating a presentation of IPV will artificially limit the real-world effectiveness of prevention programs. Psychoeducational and skills-based programs that are broadly designed to improve relationship health but include a measure of IPV behaviors or attitudes will also be included. It is possible that some individuals included in the studies will have perpetrated or been victimized by IPV. Studies were included as long as the prevention is not *intended* as a secondary prevention program.

#### Age

Studies were eliminated if the average age is higher than 30 years old when the risk of IPV begins to decline (Jennings et al., 2017; Johnson et al., 2015; Rivara et al., 2009). It is possible that there will be individuals who are older or younger than 30, but the average age of participants was less than 30. Although the range of risk is 15-30, the average age can be less than 15 as preventions may be aiming to reduce the risk prior to the age where risk increases. Because the aim of the study is to target primary preventions, reducing the personal and societal cost by intervening before harm is caused, prevention programs following the age of 30 are likely to pick up increasing numbers of participants who have already experienced or perpetrated IPV, making it a secondary or tertiary prevention. To focus on primary prevention, the age range was limited to an average age of 30 or below.

#### **Outcome Data**

Studies were required to include effects that rely on quantitative methods so that an effect size can be statistically determined. If they failed to provide the necessary information (e.g., group size, means, standard deviations), an effort was made to contact the authors and obtain the

relevant information. A follow-up email was sent two weeks after the initial attempt. If the author was unavailable, I made attempts to find other useable statistics within the article that could be coded, although this proved fruitless in many instances (Lipsey & Wilson, 2001).

#### Study Design

I included experimental and quasi-experimental prevention studies. Each study required a no-treatment control to ensure the necessary statistics could be obtained. Quasi-experimental studies have a higher risk of bias. To address this, studies were coded as experimental or quasiexperimental and I applied an a priori analysis to test if they are statistically similar (Lipsey & Wilson, 2001). Statistically similar studies can then be combined to increase power. Because of the large average sample size and number of studies (47 studies; N = 47,157), the analysis should be capable of handling even high heterogeneity up to 75% (Huedo-Medina et al., 2006). If the comparison group was another prevention program, the study was reported as two single group pre-test post-test studies. Pre-post designs were initially collected to be analyzed separately in a secondary analysis (not reported in this study). Pre-post designs are appropriate for early program evaluation efforts and provide valuable additional insight to ensure a comprehensive view of the literature. However, rigorous control-group designs are needed to establish strong causality, indicating they should not serve as the primary basis for the meta-analysis (Hawkins et al., 2020). Ultimately, 32 pre-post design studies were identified. This number of studies would justify a separate analysis that qualitatively appraises the characteristics of the prevention programs, and thus an analysis of pre-post studies was beyond the scope of the current dissertation.

#### **Publication Status**

Studies were included that were both published or unpublished so long as they are rigorously reviewed. This included a government research project and dissertations that were not published in journals but included a rigorous faculty review process. Including unpublished studies aided in reducing publication bias.

#### **Publication Date**

Studies were not excluded because of their publication date to ensure maximum inclusion of relevant studies. Furthermore, there is a history of well-established prevention programs that have been studied for multiple decades, and this allows me to capture the documented efficacy of these studies over time.

A summary of the search, inclusion and exclusion process is represented in Figure 1 with a list of the included studies appended in Appendix A. Ultimately, we coded 47 studies with experimental or quasi-experimental designs that contained 47 independent samples. These 47 samples provided 400 effect sizes. It should be noted that one study included multiple independent samples along with a control group and was coded separately (Silverman, 2000). In contrast, one study was a long-term follow-up to an earlier sample, and these two studies were combined for coding (Miller et al., 2012, 2013). Given the fact that including studies with overlapping samples violate assumptions of statistical independence (Bom & Rachinger, 2020), studies with overlapping samples were identified and combined or excluded from the final set of studies. Finally, studies whose control group included an alternative treatment intervention were excluded, as their comparison to no-treatment controls could lead to an underestimation of their effect size.

#### Coding
### Figure 1

### Flow Chart of Inclusion/Exclusion Decisions



Coding occurred across various stages. Some potential moderator variables were ultimately di-or trichotomized for the moderator analysis but were listed as continuous or numerical variables during the initial coding phases. As iterations of coding occurred, additional moderators were identified that were suspected to have a meaningful impact and some moderators were not sufficiently powered for analysis (i.e., at least *k* greater than or equal to five). Table 1 outlines the total collection of moderators, the original coding decisions a priori, and the final coding structure based on the ultimate findings. The planned moderator analyses included method of intervention, gender, age, intervention length, and at-risk population. During the coding process, program setting was added as a post-hoc analysis.

### **Addressing Bias**

In order to address the "file-drawer effect" (i.e., missing studies publication bias; (Baldwin, 2006), I contacted authors who have multiple publications to see if they have any relevant unpublished studies. Any studies that meet the inclusion criteria were added to the database for coding. It has been demonstrated that meta-analyses that do not include unpublished studies can overestimate the effect size by 5-20% (Baldwin, 2006). I searched *Dissertation Abstracts International* to find studies that are yet unpublished but are still peer-reviewed. Even with these proactive efforts to identify all relevant studies for inclusion, I tested for potential missing-study bias using the Duval and Tweedie (Duval & Tweedie, 2000) trim and fill funnel plot method.

### Power

To ensure that the study is sufficiently powered for a random effects model, I conducted an a priori power analysis using a Microsoft Excel formula (Valentine et al., 2010). Of the 47 included studies, they have an average sample size of N = 1,003. Previous meta-analyses of prevention interventions have demonstrated an overall effect sizes between 0.056 and 0.22 (De La Rue et al., 2017; Edwards & Hinsz, 2014; Lee & Wong, 2022). In order to detect effect sizes SMD = 0.1, power is determined to be 100% for studies with high heterogeneity.

Beyond power for the overall effect, power for important moderators was also calculated. There were eight studies that analyzed the effects of self-directed prevention programs. These eight studies have an average sample size of 443. The current study is powered at 1.0 for studies with high heterogeneity to detect an effect size of 0.1. There are 14 studies included that target at-risk populations with an average sample size of approximately 840. The current study is powered at 100% for studies with high heterogeneity. Power for moderators of gender, age, and intervention length are likely to be similar to the power of the overall effect size. Taken together, this meta-analysis is well-powered to detect small effect sizes across the a priori moderators.

### **Data Analysis**

Data analysis was conducted using Comprehensive Meta-Analysis Version 3. I reported descriptive statistics, effect sizes of the included treatments as a standardized mean difference, the heterogeneity of the included studies, and moderator analyses. Because the primary purpose of the study is to examine the distribution of effect sizes in primary prevention programs, effect sizes were calculated using standardized mean group differences (SMD). The SMD is an effect size that takes the variability of the sample into account (Lipsey & Wilson, 2001). If multiple effect sizes were associated with a study, they were combined by their weighted average. I used a random effects estimate, as this model allows effect sizes to vary between studies due to study and intervention methods, in addition to potential sampling error. This provided a more conservative estimate of effect sizes (Lipsey & Wilson, 2001) that can be generalized more reliably to the broader field of studies (Hedges & Vevea, 1998).

In addition, I tested for significant group differences between experimental and quasiexperimental studies at pretest, as suggested by Shadish et al. (2000). No significant differences existed ( $d_{exp} = 0.199$ , k = 18;  $d_{quasi} = 0.168$ , k = 29; Q = 0.173, p = 0.678) so all control-group studies were analyzed together (Lipsey & Wilson, 2001).

For moderation analyses, Q tests assessed for differences in levels of the moderating variables. To reduce the chance of spurious findings due to chance, I limited moderator analyses

## Table 1

# Moderator Coding Structure

Moderator	Original Coding	Final Coding Structure
Method of intervention	In-person or remote	F (facilitated), SD (self- directed)
Rigorously reviewed	Yes or no	Publication: Y (peer- reviewed article), ND (not- published dissertation), NG (not-published gov't project)
Publication year	Year in XXXX format	Year in XXXX format
Study funding	Description of funding source	Gov't funding: Y (gov't funded), N (no gov't funding), N/A (funding source not reported)
Gender	Women in sample by percentage	PW (predominately women), PM (predominately men), M (mixed genders)
Race/ethnicity	Minorities in the sample by percentage, combining all racial and ethnic minorities <sup>a</sup>	PW (predominately White), PM (predominately minority), M (mixed)
Age	Average age of the sample, excluded if $< 30$	M (avg. age between 11-13), H (avg. age between 14-17), C (avg. age 18+)
Intervention length	Number of hours	1 (0-2 hours), 2 (3-7 hours), 3 (8+ hours), N/A (the intervention was not codable)
Timing of assessment	Timing in months of assessment and follow-up	Immediate (first post- intervention assessment up to 6 mos.), Short-term follow- up (1-6 mos. post intervention), Long-term follow-up (6+ mos. post intervention)

Missing data	Description of method for handling missingness	Y (used imputation), N (did not use imputation)
Program focus	Coded as IPV, relationship education, or sexual assault	IPV (intimate partner violence), RE (relationship education)
At-risk population	Targeting any at-risk population (e.g., previous exposure, low SES, job instability, teen pregnancy)	Y (targeted any at-risk population), N (did not target an at-risk population)
Study design	Experimental or quasi- experimental	E (experimental), Q (quasi- experimental)
Sexual orientation	Percentage of individuals identifying as straight	PH (predominately heterosexual)
Setting	School or community	S (school), C (community)
Country	Country where sample was collected	US (in the US), F (foreign)

*Note.* Any studies coded as "predominately" indicate that 2/3rds or more of the sample held that demographic characteristic.

<sup>a</sup>If a study indicated that it was from another country (e.g., Mexico), it was coded as 100% racially/ethnically diverse unless otherwise specified.

to the following set: the primary moderator being evaluated included the method of treatment dissemination (e.g., in-person versus distance intervention); additional moderation analyses included gender; whether the intervention targets at-risk populations versus the general public; was intended to prevent IPV specifically or was a subcomponent of a relationship health program; and whether the intervention was disseminated in a school or community setting. These moderators, when sufficiently powered, were assessed for the outcomes of knowledge, attitudes, or behaviors. Each moderator had at least five studies at each level to ensure that there was adequate power to detect meaningful differences and to avoid the risk of spurious findings from under-powered analyses. Between-study heterogeneity was also measured using the  $I^2$  statistic (Lipsey & Wilson, 2001), with  $I^2$  levels at or above 50% representing moderate heterogeneity, and 75% representing high heterogeneity. The a priori power analysis accounted for levels of heterogeneity to ensure that the study was sufficiently powered. These findings are visually represented using a funnel plot and a table that provides the effect sizes for the outcome and moderator variables.

#### Results

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

A primary aim of this meta-analysis is to better understand the current state of the literature related to IPV primary prevention programs. Table 2 details descriptive statistics highlighting the characteristics of the programs included in this meta-analysis. To assess moderators, we required a minimum of k = 5 studies per moderator category. Two primary moderators we determined a priori were the implementation method and the program focus. Of note, eight of the 47 studies (17%) assessed self-directed interventions, indicating that the implementation method can be assessed as a potential moderator. In looking at the focus of the prevention programs, 27 (57%) targeted IPV, 16 (34%) had a broad relationship education focus, and four (8.5%) specifically targeted sexual assault. Because there were not at least five programs designed to reduce sexual violence, these programs were included in the "IPV" category for the final moderator analysis. Altogether, the study was well-powered to conduct moderator analyses on the pre-determined characteristics.

Another important observation for prevention programs relates to their dosage. More specifically, a better understanding of session numbers and their total length can allow us to determine the impact of program quantity. Within the 47 included studies, the programs provided

an average of 8.26 sessions (SD = 6.95) that applied 9.32 hours of direct intervention (SD = 11.52). Ten studies (21%) provided two hours or less of intervention, 21 (45%) provided between three and seven hours, and fifteen (32%) provided eight or more. This demonstrates that there is significant variability in the dose of these programs, but most would be considered brief.

Final observations from the descriptive statistics relate to demographics. An additional aim of this meta-analysis is to highlight whether these interventions are reaching critical audiences, so we examined age, previous exposure to IPV, race, gender, and sexual orientation. The average age of participants in the included studies is 16.18 years (SD = 3.39), meaning that many participants are high school aged or younger (k = 37). This indicates that prevention efforts are being incorporated early but highlights the alarmingly high rates of previous exposure in such a young demographic. Specifically, in the 16 studies (34%) that evaluated previous exposure, the average rate was 45.41% (SD = 27.63). This included childhood exposure and prior victimization/perpetration. Previous exposure was identified at all sample levels, including middle-school students.

Because individuals who are racial and ethnic minorities are at an increased risk for experiencing IPV, it is essential to consider how prevention programs impact their communities. Taken together, the average percentage of participants who were a racial or ethnic minority was 60.95% (*SD* = 33.93), with 19 studies (40%) having predominately minority participants. This indicates that there has been some effort to understand the implications of IPV prevention programs for racial and ethnic minorities. It is also important to note that IPV occurs regardless of gender, and prevention strategies should be broadly applied. Within the current sample, the average percentage of women was 53.32% (*SD* = 21.78), with 34 studies (72%) including samples that are mixed between men and women. This suggests that gender for men and women

was well accounted for in the current sample. It is important to note that the literature was exclusively binary, and no studies included a measure for individuals who fall outside of the gender binary or have a transgender identity. Similarly, there was a large gap in the literature for assessing sexual orientation. Only nine of the 47 studies (19%) measured sexual orientation. Within these nine studies, the average percentage of heterosexual participants was 96.45% (SD =5.28), indicating that a major gap exists in the literature for individuals in queer relationships. Altogether, this demonstrates that research is currently making attempts to address racial/ethnic concerns, as well as concerns for men and women, it has not yet adequately addressed IPV in the LGBTQ+ community.

### **Primary Analyses**

First, we performed a comprehensive computation of the cumulative effect of IPV interventions. The resulting effect size d = 0.175, derived from a total of 47 studies was statistically significant (p < 0.001). Further examination of this effect revealed a moderate degree of heterogeneity (Q = 142.091, p < 0.001,  $I^2 = 67.63$ ). This value describes the variability within the study results, indicating a certain degree of diversity in the impact of the interventions across different contexts.

To develop more specificity, I followed our a priori plan to analyze the available outcomes along the categories of attitudes, knowledge, and behaviors. Specifically, I derived these categories by reading the referenced measure and assigning it the appropriate label whether it measured an attitude, was related to factual knowledge, or measured a self-reported behavior. As broad categories, attitudes (d = 0.166, k = 29, p < 0.001), knowledge (d = 0.212, k = 12, p < 0.001), and behaviors (d = 0.160, k = 36, p < 0.001) had small, significant effect sizes. Taken together, IPV primary prevention programs were able to successfully address their targeted outcomes in these domains.

Although a priori decisions were made to analyze the broad categories of attitudes, knowledge, and behaviors, sub-categories of these domains could not be determined until outcomes within the individual studies were identified through coding. Five attitudinal subcategories, one knowledge subcategory, and nine behavioral subcategories were sufficiently powered to assess for significance. What follows are the posthoc analyses that resulted from the final structure of outcomes available within the 47 studies (see Table 3).

A few notable findings arose from these outcomes. The first is that beliefs related to IPV (e.g., the acceptability of this violence) were not significantly impacted by the intervention programs (d = 0.118, k = 13, p = 0.071), but knowledge about IPV did significantly increase (d= 0.182, k = 10, p = 0.029). This suggests that knowledge can be gained without subsequent changes in conceptually related attitudes. Another notable finding indicates that behavioral outcomes were significant across IPV perpetration and victimization [broad perpetration (d =0.183, k = 31, p < 0.001), physical perpetration (d = 0.155, k = 29, p < 0.001), psychological perpetration (d = 0.218, k = 17, p < 0.001), sexual perpetration (d = 0.140, k = 7, p = 0.024), broad victimization (d = 0.137, k = 19, p = 0.002), physical victimization (d = 0.175, k = 15, p= 0.003), psychological victimization (d = 0.175, k = 11, p < 0.001), and sexual victimization (d= 0.119, k = 5, p = 0.052], but did not lead to significant effects for relationship skills (d = -0.066, k = 12, p = 0.400). It should be noted that effect sizes were coded so that positive effect sizes indicate changes in the expected direction, and negative effect sizes indicate changes in the opposite. Relationship skills captured an aggregate of communication, emotion regulation, and conflict management skills, and the total effect size was nonsignificant. This may suggest that

## Table 2

# Descriptive Statistics of Included Studies

Moderator	k	Average (SD)
Program Focus		
IPV	27	
Relationship Education	16	
Sexual Assault	4	
Method of Dissemination		
Facilitated	39	
Self-Directed	8	
Individual or Couple		
Individual	43	
Couple	4	
At-Risk Population		
High Risk Population	14	
Target Behavior		
Self	39	
Bystander	5	
Both	3	
Intervention Setting		
School	37	
Community	10	
Country		
US	34	
Foreign	13	
Government Funded		
Yes	29	
No	10	
Not Reported	8	
Published		
Yes	42	

Dissertation	4	
Government Project	1	
Number of Sessions		
Average Sessions		8.26 (6.95)
Average Hours		9.31 (11.52)
Race		
Average % Minorities		60.95% (33.93)
Predominately White	21	
Predominately Minority	19	
Mixed Race/Ethnicity	7	
Age		
Average Age		16.18 (3.39)
Middle-School-Age	10	
High-School-Age	27	
College and Beyond	10	
Gender		
Average % Women		53.32% (21.78)
Predominately Women	9	
Predominately Men	4	
Mixed Gender	34	
Sexual Orientation		
Average % Straight		96.45% (5.28)
Studies with Measure	9	
Studies without Measure	38	
Previous Exposure		
Average % Exposure		45.41% (27.63)
Studies with Measure	16	

the method of behavioral change was not related to changes in relationship skills.

I used trim-and-fill procedures to assess for missing-study bias. Publication bias has the potential to artificially inflate effect sizes, and effect sizes adjusted for publication bias may be a better estimation of the true effect size. Figures 2 – Figure 5 illustrate the associated trim and fill

plots for the aggregated effect sizes, attitudes, knowledge, and behaviors, respectively. I found evidence of potential upward bias in the aggregate of behavioral effect sizes (see Figure 5). This indicates that there is an increased risk of publication bias for behavioral outcomes with an adjusted effect size of d = 0.084, nearly half of the observed effect size within the study. The behavioral effect size should be cautiously interpreted, meaning that the observed effect is likely present, but artificially inflated.

In addition to publication bias, I conducted a "leave one out" analysis on the general effect size and aggregate effect size of attitudes, knowledge and behavior. This analysis assesses the impact of each included study by running the analysis while removing one study at a time to determine if one result is significantly impacting the overall effect size. I assessed for outliers and did not find anything of note.

There was high heterogeneity in attitude (Q = 160.744, p < 0.001,  $I^2 = 89.18$ ) and knowledge (Q = 106.150, p < 0.001,  $I^2 = 89.64$ ) effect sizes. Behavior effect sizes had moderate levels of heterogeneity (Q = 118.076, p < 0.001,  $I^2 = 70.36$ ) approaching high levels. Thus, planned moderators were analyzed for all effect sizes to retain power. Table 4 details the results of the planned moderator analyses. In particular, there was not a significant difference between facilitated and self-directed prevention programs ( $d_F = 0.177$ , k = 39, p < 0.001;  $d_{SD} = 0.160$ , k = 8, p = 0.132; Q = 0.023, p = 0.878) It should be noted that self-directed prevention programs did not produce a statistically significant effect size when analyzed alone. This means that the effect size for self-directed programs was not statistically different from zero but the average of these two groups of studies was not significantly different from the average of facilitated programs. It is likely that the effect size for self-directed studies was not sufficiently powered to detect significance and more studies analyzing these interventions would increase confidence in

Outcome	k	q	Range (Low-High)	CI (Low-Hight)	PI (Low-High)	d	$\widetilde{0}$	d	Adjusted <i>d</i> (trimmed studies)
Program success aggregate	47	0.175	-0.895-1.090	0.123-0.227	-0.093-0.443	<0.001	142.091	<0.001	0.119(12)
Attitudes	29	0.166	-0.226-1.395	0.075-0.256	-0.292-0.623	<0.001	258.689	<0.001	0.166 (0)
Bystander	9	0.126	0.004-0.407	-0.019-0.270	-0.310-0.562	0.088	18.639	0.002	
Efficacy	6	0.118	-0.226-0.363	0.030-0.206	-0.141-0.377	0.008	22.587	0.004	
Gender norms	9	0.292	-0.155 - 1.504	-0.001-0.586	-0.743-1.327	0.051	83.921	<0.001	
IPV beliefs	13	0.118	-0.268-0.357	-0.010-0.247	-0.370-0.606	0.071	117.609	<0.001	
Rx beliefs	7	0.303	-0.179-1.177	0.053-0.553	-0.576-1.182	0.018	77.089	<0.001	
Behaviors	36	0.160	-0.895-0.785	0.096-0.223	-0.132-0.452	<0.001	118.076	<0.001	0.084(11)
Perpetration	31	0.188	-0.186-0.750	0.127-0.248	-0.057-0.433	<0.001	72.158	<0.001	
Physical perp.	18	0.167	-0.243-0.737	0.080-0.253	-0.131-0.464	<0.001	44.174	<0.001	
Psych. perp.	17	0.218	-0.884 - 0.430	0.133-0.302	-0.051-0.486	<0.001	42.465	<0.001	
Sexual perp.	٢	0.140	0.000-0.393	0.019-0.262	-0.179-0.460	0.024	12.730	0.048	
Victimization	19	0.137	-0.142-0.764	0.052-0.222	-0.155-0.429	0.002	62.020	<0.001	
Physical vic.	12	0.134	-0.109-0.764	0.034-0.234	-0.183 - 0.451	0.009	42.3590	<0.001	
Psych. vic.	11	0.175	0.032-0.388	0.087-0.263	-0.080 - 0.430	<0.001	32.214	<0.001	
Sexual vic.	5	0.119	0.021-0.628	-0.001-0.238	-0.198 - 0.435	0.052	6.576	0.160	
Rx skills	12	-0.066	-1.604-0.194	-0.220-0.088	-0.621-0.489	0.400	111.213	<0.001	
Knowledge	12	0.212	-0.093-0.597	0.060-0.365	-0.345-0.770	0.0066	106.150	<0.001	0.212 (0)
IPV know.	10	0.182	-0.032 - 0.554	0.019-0.345	-0.389-0.753	0.029	94.222	<0.001	

Effect Sizes for Outcome Categories

Table 3

the findings. Taken together, there is reason to suspect that self-directed programs may have similar effects in reducing IPV.

This pattern of a non-significant moderator where one effect size was not significant repeated for college and older aged participants ( $d_M = 0.228$ , k = 10, p < 0.001;  $d_{HS} = 0.173$ , k = 27, p < 0.001;  $d_C = 0.075$ , k = 10, p = 0.364; Q = 3.103, p = 0.212), studies conducted in community settings ( $d_S = 0.189$ , k = 37, p < 0.001;  $d_C = 0.088$ , k = 10, p = 0.169; Q = 2.103, p = 0.147), and interventions with more than eight hours ( $d_{LD} = 0.184$ , k = 10, p < 0.001;  $d_{MD} = 0.175$ , k = 21, p < 0.001;  $d_{HD} = 0.103$ , k = 15, p = 0.545; Q = 0.212, p = 0.976). Another relevant finding included the fact that program focus was not a significant moderator, with no significant difference in effect sizes between programs designed to reduce IPV as compared to programs focused on broad relationship education ( $d_{IPV} = 0.177$ , k = 32, p < 0.001;  $d_{RE} = 0.159$ , k = 15, p = 0.028; Q = 0.056, p = 0.812), indicating that relationship education programs constitute another effective means of providing primary prevention efforts. No other moderators, including gender, setting, or intervention length, produced significant differences.

#### Discussion

### **Effectiveness of IPV Prevention Programs**

In a very broad sense, this meta-analysis allows us to answer the question, are primary prevention programs for IPV working? Looking at the included studies as a whole, the aggregate of the intervention outcomes indicates a small but significant positive effect from primary prevention programs (d = 0.175, k = 47, p < 0.001). This finding is commensurate with previous meta-analyses related to IPV, which generated overall mean effect sizes of 0.19 (Edwards & Hinsz, 2014) and has important implications for IPV prevention strategies and interventions. Although the effect size is described as small, even small reductions in IPV can have a significant impact on behavior that impacts millions of people and is costly economically and

# Figure 2



### Trim and Fill Plot for General Success Effect Sizes

### Figure 3

Trim and Fill Plot for Attitude Effect Sizes



### Figure 4



### Trim and Fill Plot for Knowledge Effect Sizes

### Figure 5

Trim and Fill Plot for Behavioral Effect Sizes



socially. It is also important to contextualize this effect size within the broader scope of prevention literature.

It is not uncommon to have small effect sizes in intervention studies, especially when they are targeted to more broad populations rather than occurring under research conditions where delivery is controlled. Multiple government funded programs that address early education, provide support for low-income new mothers, encourage responsible fatherhood, and address healthy couple functioning all have effect sizes that range from 0.10-0.20 (Hawkins et al., 2022). This indicates that the effect size of IPV primary prevention programs is generally in line with the effect sizes of interventions with similar delivery approaches.

Also, because the reduction of IPV involves dyadic interactions between romantic partners, it is likely that interventions will follow similar patterns to other dyadic programs. Findings suggest that couple intervention programs are particularly susceptible to low effect sizes when interventions are not tailored and they occur in field studies as opposed to laboratory trials (Bradbury & Bodenmann, 2020). These findings are likely to hold for IPV primary prevention programs, where interventions are broadly applied to reduce violent behavior (i.e., not tailored), and they occur outside of laboratory settings. Thus, it is anticipated that these general effect sizes would remain small and is not a reflection of their value.

Finally, it is important to consider the impact of IPV prevention programs related to their dosage. Thirty-one studies included programs that provided seven hours or less of intervention. Noticing significant effect sizes, even from considerably small doses of an intervention, provides hope that meaningful improvements can be made without requiring the investment of substantial resources. Prevention programs in particular may benefit from low dosage interventions, as it

### Table 4

#### CI Moderator k d (Low-High) р Q (diff.) р 0.878 Implementation Method 0.023 Facilitated 39 0.177 0.122-0.232 < 0.001 Self-Directed 8 0.160 -0.048-0.369 0.132 **Program Focus** 0.056 0.812 IPV 32 0.177 < 0.001 0.132-0223 Relationship Ed. 15 0.159 0.017-0.302 0.028 Setting 2.103 0.147 Community 10 0.088 -0.038-0.215 0.169 School 37 0.189 < 0.001 0.138-0.240 **At-Risk Population** 1.310 0.252 Yes 14 0.126 0.028-0.224 0.012 No 33 0.192 0.135-0.250 < 0.001 Gender 3.236 0.072 Mixed 34 0.204 0.139-0.268 < 0.001 0.107 0.012 One Gender Majority 13 0.024-0.190 3.103 0.212 Age Middle-school Aged 10 0.228 0.151-0.304 < 0.001 < 0.001 High-school Aged 27 0.173 0.115-0.231 College or Beyond 10 0.075 -0.087-0.238 0.364 Intervention Length 0.212 0.976 Low Dose (0-2 hours) 10 0.184 0.101-0.266 < 0.001 Med. Dose (3-7 hours) 21 0.175 0.097-0.253 < 0.001 High Dose (8+ hours) 15 0.103 -0.232-0.439 0.545

### **Results of Planned Moderator Analyses**

may attract participants who are not experiencing difficulty, and would be unlikely to participate in lengthy interventions (Hawkins et al., 2004).

Beyond explaining the etiology of small effect sizes, it is also important to consider the impact of even small effect sizes. When implemented on a broader scale and targeting a larger population, even small improvements can have a cumulative impact in reducing IPV incidents. In addition, a small effect size resulting from an intervention that is effectively dosed and delivered can be more impactful than a larger effect size derived from an intervention that is impractical or inaccessible to those who need it most. Interventions with smaller effect sizes may be more scalable, affordable, or feasible to implement widely, meaning they can reach more individuals, especially those in marginalized communities or remote areas. An intervention's value should be considered in its ability to reach and positively influence the most vulnerable populations, not just its theoretical potential in controlled conditions.

Furthermore, despite producing modest effect sizes, these primary preventions can be valuable in raising awareness and stimulating discourse around the issue. These conversations can contribute to an environment where IPV is recognized as a serious concern, encouraging more individuals to seek help and support. The increased awareness can influence policy changes and inspire further research to develop more effective interventions, thereby amplifying the overall effect. Finally, improvements in individual knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors can have ripple effects that extend to interpersonal relationships, families, and communities. As people participating in IPV interventions share their experiences, the acquired knowledge and skills can be transferred to others, gradually promoting a cultural shift toward healthier, non-violent relationships. This cumulative change can contribute to breaking the cycle of violence and fostering a more supportive environment for future generations.

### Attitudes, Knowledge, and Behaviors

Although the aggregated effect size is encouraging, this lacks the specificity needed to inform future practice and programmatic decisions. This trend of small but significant effect sizes holds when assessing for expected changes in attitudes, increases in knowledge, and ultimately, reduction in IPV behaviors. This leads us to an informative exploration of how these categories can effectively address IPV and how future interventions can build on these successes.

The Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) proposes that an individual's intention to perform a certain behavior is determined by their attitude towards that behavior, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control (Ajzen, 1991). In the context of the findings from the meta-analysis on IPV prevention programs, TPB can provide a framework for understanding how the changes in attitudes, knowledge, and behaviors contribute to the prevention of IPV.

### Attitude Towards Behavior

According to TPB, an individual's attitude towards a behavior is influenced by their beliefs about the consequences of that behavior and their evaluation of those consequences. The meta-analysis shows significant effects on attitudes related to self-efficacy, gender norms, and relationship beliefs, suggesting that IPV prevention programs might positively affect individuals' attitudes towards non-violent behaviors in relationships. These attitude changes, in turn, could make individuals less likely to engage in IPV, aligning with the TPB framework. Interestingly, these programs did not significantly impact their beliefs about violent behaviors in relationships. This suggests that the more effective attitudinal targets may be related to healthy relationship functioning and egalitarian gender roles. This corroborates the finding that relationship education programs were also effective at addressing IPV.

### Subjective Norms

TPB posits that subjective norms refer to an individual's perception of social pressure to perform or not perform a behavior. The meta-analysis does not directly address subjective norms; however, the significant effects on attitudes related to gender norms and relationship beliefs may imply that these programs are influencing individuals' perceptions of societal expectations around gender roles and relationship dynamics. This change in perception could potentially affect their behavior in relationships, making them less likely to engage in IPV. In addition, participants had noted increases in their ability to navigate unhealthy relationship dynamics. The very act of addressing violent behaviors may establish a subjective expectation to avoid perpetrating or tolerating violence within romantic relationships.

### **Perceived Behavioral Control**

According to TPB, perceived behavioral control refers to an individual's belief in their ability to perform a given behavior. The meta-analysis demonstrates significant effects on attitudes related to self-efficacy, which reflects an individual's self-rated capacity to handle circumstances of IPV. This increase in self-efficacy could improve individuals' perceived behavioral control over their actions in relationships, making them less likely to engage in or be victimized by IPV.

### Knowledge

While the TPB does not explicitly mention the role of knowledge in shaping behavior, the meta-analysis findings show a significant increase in knowledge related to IPV. This increase in knowledge could potentially influence individuals' attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control, as more informed individuals might be better equipped to understand the consequences of IPV, recognize social expectations around non-violent behaviors, and feel more capable of engaging in healthy relationship behaviors. Interestingly, increases in knowledge about IPV were not associated with more favorable attitudes related to IPV specifically. This may indicate that learning more about IPV may not be sufficient to challenge attitudes that support dating violence. This also suggests that the attitudes necessary to target may be more related to non-violent dating behaviors.

TBP provides a parsimonious explanation for reductions in IPV across broad and discrete categories of both perpetration and victimization (i.e., physical, psychological, and sexual). It connects the changes in attitudes and knowledge to these behavioral reductions without relying on the development of new behavioral skills. This explanation is particularly useful considering the surprising finding that IPV prevention programs did not lead to significant improvements in relationship skills such as positive communication, conflict management, or emotion regulation.

### Non-significant Changes in Relationship-Related Skills

The non-significant finding related to relationship skills may initially cast doubt on the connection between relationship skills and reductions in IPV. However, there are important considerations to make regarding the descriptive features of the included studies. Nearly two-thirds of the interventions were implemented over a period of seven hours or less which may not be a sufficient length to appropriately learn and employ new behavioral skills. In addition, these relationship skills are likely to occur in dyadic contexts. The current sample had very few couple interventions that met inclusion criteria. It is possible that programs which successfully lead to behavioral change in relationship skills are more likely to be identified in couple intervention programs that allow both members of the dyad to develop skills. However, learning about these behavioral skills may have contributed to feelings of self-efficacy and other attitudes that ultimately lead to decreases in IPV behaviors.

Furthermore, the fact that relationship skills did not appear to contribute to the current reduction in IPV does not mean that the successful implementation of new behavioral skills would not lead to additional decreases in IPV behaviors. Instead of viewing relationship skills as competing for the same portion of IPV reduction, it is possible that improving skills would lead to further improvements for couples related to violent behaviors. Beyond reducing violence, improvements to relationship quality may come from improved skills, another valuable target of relationship programing. Thus, these findings should not be interpreted as evidence to abandon behavioral approaches. Instead, it can be viewed as encouraging support for the idea that IPV can be reduced in low-dose interventions without requiring the acquisition of new skills.

### **Planned Moderator Analyses**

Interestingly, statistically significant differences were not found in any of the identified moderators. Two primary moderators that extended the reach of previous meta-analyses included implementation method, and program focus. More specifically, there was not a statistically significant difference for programs that were self-directed as opposed to programs that were facilitated. This finding has important implications when considering possible intervention methods that can reach vulnerable, marginalized, and under-resourced communities.

Although there was not a statistically significant difference between the studies, selfdirected studies did not have a statistically significant result on their own. It should be noted that there were a smaller number of studies (k = 8) with a wider range of variability (CI = -0.048-0.369) and a smaller average sample size (n = 443) compared to the total average sample (N =1003). Ultimately, this suggests that the phenomenon has not been sufficiently studied to determine the effect of these interventions alone. In spite of this, the average effect of the included studies were not significantly different from facilitated programs. This moderator analysis lends hope to the idea that self-directed programs can be comparable to facilitated interventions. An emphasis on assessing and implementing self-directed programs will increase confidence in future meta-analyses while allowing vulnerable populations to receive access to care. These self-directed programs should be targeted to the populations that will most benefit from their flexibility and should undergo a process of cultural tailoring to ensure it can adequately meet the needs of these groups (e.g., development with community stakeholders and pilot testing).

In another extension on previous meta-analyses, this study analyzed for differences between programs with different focuses (i.e., intended to prevent IPV, or a more broad approach to relationship education). This indicates that IPV prevention does not need to be isolated from broad relationship education programs. This also suggests that IPV prevention programs can be broadened to include general principles that may ultimately lead to improved relationship outcomes, allowing researchers to focus simultaneously on reducing harmful events, and increasing broad relationship quality.

No other moderators indicated that there were significant differences between groups (i.e., setting, at-risk population, gender, age or intervention length). In spite of this, programs implemented in community settings, with participants college-aged and older, and/or who received a high dose of intervention (i.e., eight or more hours), had nonsignificant effect sizes. This information can assist in guiding prevention efforts but are not intended to be deterministic. Multiple confounds can complicate the evaluation of moderator analyses. Community based prevention programs are not as reliably effective as school-based interventions within the current sample. However, community based programs, with less structure than school-based samples, had higher rates of attrition and smaller sample sizes. This may suggest that there is an increased need to develop community-based interventions that are more responsive to the populations with more feasible dosages (e.g., one-time interventions). It may also suggest that community programs are targeting higher-risk and more complex participants. Similarly to the self-directed programs, further research on community-based programs will allow for more definitive evaluations of the effectiveness of these interventions.

These similar sentiments can be made related to age and intervention dose. For instance, college-age participants also had non-significant effect sizes, which may point to more complex presentations and higher levels of prior exposure. Researchers have previously highlighted the need for college-aged interventions that are more individually targeted to the individual population, including incorporating elements such as motivational interviewing, DBT, and mindfulness depending on previously identified risk factors (Shorey et al., 2012). These results may also be skewed by the reality that the risk for IPV perpetration peaks in early adulthood, during the college age (Johnson et al., 2015). In similar confounds, higher-risk and more complex participants may be more likely to receive higher dosages, complicating assessments of program effectiveness. Taken together, the nonsignificant findings in these groups should encourage further research that is more uniquely targeted to these populations.

In spite of this, the current study also highlights the importance of interventions that have demonstrated effect sizes. These include school-based interventions that target participants who are high-school aged or younger. Because programs at a low to medium dose (i.e., zero to seven hours) had significant effect sizes, it may be possible to integrate programs into school systems with short interventions (as brief as one half-hour sessions) that can have a measurable impact on IPV outcomes. Taken together, these findings should not discourage interventions for collegeaged, community-based, or high-dose interventions. However, it does indicate that school-based interventions for young students have documented success.

### **Theoretical Implications**

These findings can also lend to the conversation surrounding the etiology and maintenance of IPV, which can inform future prevention methods. Feminist theories have purported that patriarchal gender norms underlie the presence of IPV. As such, a number of studies seek to change attitudes related to gender norms. The current set of prevention studies were able to successfully alter attitudes related to gender. In spite of this, taken altogether, IPV perpetration and victimization were reported by both men/boys and women/girls. This would indicate that although some forms of IPV may be impacted by changes in attitudes related to gender norms, there remains a significant portion of IPV that is not rooted in the power and control dynamics of the patriarchy.

Social learning theories indicate that modeling may serve to cause or maintain IPV. One method of reducing IPV associated with social learning theory is the impact of bystander effects, where peer modeling and intervention can ultimately lead to reductions in IPV. Bystander programs were broadly effective within the current sample—in aggregated outcome measures—indicating that beyond bystander behaviors, these programs impact change in attitudes and behaviors similarly to other prevention programs. This lends strength to the theory that social learning can impact IPV behaviors. Similarly, as participants develop increased confidence and intentions to intervene as a bystander, they may also be reducing their own likelihood to perpetrate or be victimized by IPV.

The vulnerability-stress-adaptation (VSA) model attempts to explain the connection between predispositions, early exposure, and environmental stressors that may lead to the 54

etiology of IPV and account for individuals who have not had previous exposure. Within this model, increased relationship skills should improve their capacity to handle stressful life circumstances and reduce incidences of IPV, particularly situational forms of violence. The current study found that although programs were able to reduce instances of IPV, they were not successful in changing relationship skills, either immediately or in follow-up. This surprising finding suggests that the vulnerability within the VSA model may lie in pre-conditioned attitudes and knowledge. Adjustments to these beliefs may be sufficient to reduce behaviors related to IPV.

The contextual framework seeks to ground predispositions, stress, and vulnerability within the larger ecological model, accounting for community and societal factors that might affect outcomes. The contextual model can be appraised by looking at studies that address high risk communities. Within the current sample, programs had similar success for participants who were identified as high-risk as those who were not high risk. Although it is possible that there are a number of "high-risk" participants in studies that were not designed to target them, it is unlikely that 100% of the population was high risk. In some ways this statistic is hopeful. It indicates that IPV prevention programs are having a small but significant impact on high-risk groups. However, because these populations are expected to have higher rates of IPV, it is also anticipated that successful programs will lead to more significant decreases in IPV related outcomes. This suggests that there may be ways that IPV prevention programs, or relationship education programs that address IPV, may not be sufficiently tailored to high-risk groups. Very few programs developed targeted treatments that included input from important community stakeholders. Alterations to the design of IPV prevention programs may lead to increased effectiveness for high-risk populations and lend support to the contextual framework.

### **Limitations and Future Directions**

Although this study boasts a large sample size that is generally free from publication bias, a review of the reported studies highlights significant methodological issues that can cast doubt on the current findings. One of the major limitations identified is the almost exclusive reliance on self-report in order to document the effectiveness of programs. Although self-report is expected to measure attitudinal and knowledge-related changes, self-report is notoriously unreliable for behavioral outcomes. Particularly considering the undesirable nature of IPV, it is unlikely that individuals are accurately reporting ratings of IPV perpetration or victimization. For this reason, it is likely that these studies represent an over-estimation of reductions in perpetration and an under-estimation of victimization. In particular, changing attitudes and knowledge may increase awareness of how socially undesirable certain behaviors are and increase bias in self-reporting. Of the 47 included studies, only three studies incorporated partner report into their behavioral findings in order to corroborate experiences of perpetration and victimization. When possible, partner report should be incorporated to verify reductions in IPV.

Beyond the reliance on self-report, additional concerns related to measures may have impacted the outcomes of the current study. Of the 400 reported effect sizes, 124 relied on facevalid measures. These measures may have been as condensed as a single face-valid question. This may undermine the integrity of the findings, as it is not certain that we have fully captured the intended outcome. In addition, although the remaining outcome measures had some validation, some of these measures are notoriously unreliable (e.g., CADRI), and lacked consistency. Thus, comparisons between the various studies should be cautiously interpreted.

Even if more reliable measures were used, they may not have been consistently used across studies. Different measures were used by various authors and comparisons may be limited by weaknesses in these measures and low correlations between them. An effort should be made by the field to determine more standard measures that can be applied across studies. These measures should be validated for various age ranges to reduce the need for authors to independently alter measures for younger populations. Furthermore, studies did not uniformly measure the same outcomes. Thus, not all studies contained a measure for attitudes, knowledge, and behaviors, and those that did contain measure of all three did not always measure them in the same way (e.g., parsing apart by victimization and perpetration or physical and psychological). Field standards for the measures being used, modified for age and cultural groups, assessing similar outcomes, would significantly improve the generalizability of these studies.

In another methodological confound, younger participants are more likely to receive school-based interventions that provide significant structure. This limits attrition and intervention fidelity concerns and may artificially inflate outcomes for younger participants. Within the current study, community-based interventions were more likely to be provided to adult samples, and both groups did not have overall significant effect sizes. This may lend towards the idea that younger participants should be targeted in favor of adult interventions, but this may be captured more adequately by the difference in community versus school programs where participants are more likely to complete interventions. Thus, these findings should be interpreted with caution. However, regardless of the methodological considerations, it is likely that issues with attrition would occur when programs are implemented outside of the research context. If drop-out occurs in community samples, this is likely to continue, and may suggest that school settings are a more appropriate environment to provide primary prevention efforts with higher treatment fidelity, and that community interventions should focus on smaller-dosage interventions less vulnerable to attrition.

Additional limitations within the current sample include gaps in the demographic features of individuals who are studied. One major limitation is that LGBTQ+ individuals are almost entirely missing from the current studies with 38 failing to even measure sexual orientation. Although nine studies reported demographic features related to sexual orientation, the vast majority of individuals within these studies reported being heterosexual. With LGBTQ+ populations estimated to be close to 20% or more, this indicates that a significant portion of the population with unique vulnerabilities is being understudied. Queer individuals are at a higher risk for experiencing IPV, and studies are categorically missing the opportunity to determine whether or not the current prevention programs will be successful for this population. This is consistent with research demonstrating that the needs of the LGBTQ+ population is not often uniquely targeted (Ford et al., 2013).

Future studies should be directed towards studying couples and individuals in queer relationships. This should be accomplished through a process of cultural tailoring that invites community stakeholders and experts to develop or revise materials to the queer population, pilot studies for the target age demographic, and ultimately evaluate them in experimentally controlled trials. The lack of material addressing the LGBTQIA+ population also highlights the fact that many "tailored" programs are using theoretically driven material without input from important community stakeholders or verifying its cultural appropriateness (Moss & Fedina, 2022). Thus, research should not simply apply existing prevention programs to queer populations, but should incorporate appropriate information into programs disseminated widely to schools and develop new programs uniquely addressing LGBTIA+ individuals.

Although the current study was intended as a primary prevention measure, the ubiquity of IPV beginning at very early ages led to significant portions of the samples having experience

with perpetration and victimization. As many as 2/3rds of middle school students had perpetrated or been victimized by minor forms of IPV at the time of the intervention in one study, indicating that the program was a better representation of secondary prevention. Given this prevalence, it may not be possible to have a sample that is purely primary in its prevention. Consideration should be given to incorporating secondary prevention programs within future analyses to assess for programmatic success in reducing future incidences of severe IPV.

Capturing the long-term efficacy primary prevention programs, particularly when they are being implemented at young ages, requires long-term follow-up. This can also inform whether or not these programs are maintaining their effect across time, or if the impact of these programs grows or diminishes. IPV is not a very frequent behavior (e.g., even if 50% of individuals experience it, most do not experience it every week). Thus, the impact of IPV prevention may grow as we capture future reductions, or we may identify that the programs only have short-term impacts. In the current sample, 15 of the 47 studies (31.91%) included a long-term follow-up, defined as one year or more post intervention. Future emphasis on capturing long-term data will help to better understand the long term impact of brief interventions or those administered to younger participants.

A final limitation for the current study relates to the diversity in IPV behaviors. IPV covers a wide range of experiences from physical and psychological aggression and violence, to sexual assault, and stalking. In order to recognize the broad themes that underlie these behaviors as a common phenomenon (e.g., gender norms, power and control dynamics, social learning, and shared vulnerabilities), I decided to include the broad spectrum of behaviors. However, this broad approach may not adequately capture the nuance between different forms of violence and aggression. For instance, the inclusion of sexual violence, which can occur between individuals

who are not in an intimate relationship, may confound programs that specifically address sexual dating violence. Furthermore, because only four studies were explicitly aimed at reducing sexual violence, this could not be considered as an independent moderator to assess for significant differences in programs that address this topic.

#### Strengths

Despite these limitations, the current meta-analysis boasts several unique strengths. Including 47 studies with an average sample size of 1003 participants powered the study to detect even small effect sizes in the presence of high levels of heterogeneity. Including relationship education programs that have an IPV component allowed for the inclusion of 16 studies that have not been previously combined with other meta-analyses and provided insight into successful elements of primary prevention programs. A thorough search procedure allowed for the identification of a significant number of studies that were statistically demonstrated to be largely free from publication bias. This meta-analysis was the first to specifically compare studies that are facilitated with those that are self-directed, allowing an examination of logistical elements that can assist researchers in targeting vulnerable populations.

In addition, beyond providing a robust body of literature, the implications of the current study allow us to consider implications for clinicians and educators. The high prevalence of previous exposure, in even middle school populations, indicates that clinicians should be carefully screening for the presence of IPV, and educators can assume that a number of their students/participants have had previous exposure. Safely assessing for IPV will be an important component of addressing it successfully. This study also highlights the important role of psychoeducation, which can be provided in a therapeutic or educational setting. Interventions, in as little as 30 minutes, were able to make significant impacts. It is likely that psychoeducation,

provided in the tailored environment of psychotherapy or included in workshops or classrooms, can have an identifiable impact on the prevention of IPV. As suggested in the theory of planned behavior, the attitudes, norms, and perceived control of clients and participants is a viable method of leading to behavioral change, and this can be implemented in clinical settings. Given the pervasive nature of IPV, this is an essential consideration for clinicians in both individual and couples therapy.

### Conclusion

This study has highlighted the pervasive, public impact of IPV. As such, it is a public health crisis, and not simply an isolated problematic behavior occurring for a few individuals. Beyond the medical model, which suggests we target and reduce problematic behavior in a few problematic people, it is helpful to contextualize IPV within the broader systemic context. Developmental approaches to IPV, which seek to generally address norms and alter attitudes at key developmental stages, are likely to have the most profound impact to reduce the societal cost of relational agression. This study provides evidence to suggest that primary prevention programs, targeted toward the population at large, can significantly reduce the economic and social costs. Thus, the more accessible these programs are, the greater their success.

This meta-analysis has demonstrated that primary prevention programs for IPV have small but significant effects that can positively change attitudes, increase knowledge, and alter behaviors to reduce IPV. Importantly, these studies demonstrate that self-guided programs offer a promising alternative to facilitated programs that require more resources for implementation, although further research is needed to demonstrate their efficacy. These programs included interventions specifically designed to limit IPV and those that target relationship education as a whole and were effective in doses that were two hours or less. Findings suggest that these programs may be particularly effective when provided in school settings for middle and high school students. This provides meaningful recommendations for addressing a pervasive public health crisis and prevent future catastrophic events. Emphasizing self-directed programs aimed towards younger participants may allow providers to "meet them where they scroll" to amplify impacts for particularly vulnerable populations.

#### References

- Afifi, T. O., MacMillan, H., Cox, B. J., Asmundson, G. J. G., Stein, M. B., & Sareen, J. (2009).
  Mental health correlates of intimate partner violence in marital relationships in a nationally representative sample of males and females. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 24(8), 1398–1417. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260508322192
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 50, 179–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Anderson, K., & Van Ee, E. (2018). Mothers and children exposed to intimate partner violence: A review of treatment interventions. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 15(9), 1955. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15091955
- Archer, J. (2000). Sex differences in aggression between heterosexual partners: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 126(5), 651–680. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.126.5.651
- Ard, K. L., & Makadon, H. J. (2011). Addressing intimate partner violence in lesbian, gay,
  bisexual, and transgender patients. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 26(8), 930– 933. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-011-1697-6
- Babcock, J. C., Green, C. E., & Robie, C. (2004). Does batterers' treatment work? A metaanalytic review of domestic violence treatment. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 23(8), 1023–1053. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2002.07.001
- Baldwin, S. A. (2006). Publication bias in psychotherapy meta -analyses (Publication No.
  3230942) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Memphis]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.

http://www.proquest.com/docview/304910324/abstract/B46E60728F3B4777PQ/1

- Ball, B., Kerig, P. K., & Rosenbluth, B. (2009). "Like a family but better because you can actually trust each other." *Health Promotion Practice*, 10(1\_suppl), 45S-58S. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839908322115
- Bandura, A. (1973). Aggression: A social learning analysis. Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (2017). Psychological modeling: Conflicting theories. Transaction Publishers.
- Banyard, V. L., Moynihan, M. M., & Plante, E. G. (2007). Sexual violence prevention through bystander education: An experimental evaluation. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 35(4), 463–481. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.20159
- Bell, K. M., & Naugle, A. E. (2008). Intimate partner violence theoretical considerations: Moving towards a contextual framework. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 28(7), 1096–1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2008.03.003
- Black, M. C. (2011). Intimate partner violence and adverse health consequences: Implications for clinicians. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 5(5), 428–439. https://doi.org/10.1177/1559827611410265
- Bom, P. R., & Rachinger, H. (2020). A generalized-weights solution to sample overlap in metaanalysis. *Research Synthesis Methods*, 11(6), 812–832. https://doi.org/10.1002/jrsm.1441
- Bradbury, T. N., & Bodenmann, G. (2020). Interventions for couples. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *16*(1), 99–123. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-071519-020546
- Bramer, W. M., Rethlefsen, M. L., Kleijnen, J., & Franco, O. H. (2017). Optimal database combinations for literature searches in systematic reviews: A prospective exploratory study. *Systematic Reviews*, 6, 245. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-017-0644-y
- Breiding, M. J., Basile, K. C., Smith, S. G., Black, M. C., & Mahendra, R. (2015). *Intimate* partner violence surveillance: Uniform definitions and recommended data elements,
version 2.0. Center for Disease Control and Prevention.

https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/31292

- Breiding, M. J., Black, M. C., & Ryan, G. W. (2008). Chronic disease and health risk behaviors associated with intimate partner violence-18 U.S. states/territories, 2005. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 18(7), 538–544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2008.02.005
- Brown, S. L., & Bulanda, J. R. (2008). Relationship violence in young adulthood: A comparison of daters, cohabitors, and marrieds. *Social Science Research*, 37(1), 73–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2007.06.002
- Browning, C. R. (2002). The span of collective efficacy: Extending social disorganization theory to partner violence. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 64(4), 833–850. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2002.00833.x
- Capaldi, D. M., Kim, H. K., & Shortt, J. W. (2007). Observed initiation and reciprocity of physical aggression in young, at-risk couples. *Journal of Family Violence*, 22(2), 101– 111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-007-9067-1
- Capaldi, D. M., Knoble, N. B., Shortt, J. W., & Kim, H. K. (2012). A systematic review of risk factors for intimate partner violence. *Partner Abuse*, 3(2), 231–280. https://doi.org/10.1891/1946-6560.3.2.231
- Catallozzi, M., Simon, P. J., Davidson, L. L., Breitbart, V., & Rickert, V. I. (2011).
  Understanding control in adolescent and young adult relationships. *Archives of Pediatrics*& Adolescent Medicine, 165(4), 313–319. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.32
- Chavis, A. Z., & Hill, M. S. (2008). Integrating multiple intersecting identities: A multicultural conceptualization of the power and control wheel. *Women & Therapy*, 32(1), 121–149. https://doi.org/10.1080/02703140802384552

- Cheng, S.-Y., Davis, M., Jonson-Reid, M., & Yaeger, L. (2021). Compared to what? A metaanalysis of batterer intervention studies using nontreated controls or comparisons. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 22*(3), 496–511. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838019865927
- Cissner, A. (2009). *Evaluating the Mentors in Violence Prevention Program*. Center for Court Innovation. https://www.courtinnovation.org/publications/evaluating-mentors-violenceprevention-program
- Claussen, C. (2017). The WiseGuyz program: Sexual health education as a pathway to supporting changes in endorsement of traditional masculinity ideologies. *The Journal of Men's Studies*, 25(2), 150–167. https://doi.org/10.1177/1060826516661319
- Coker, A. L., Cook-Craig, P. G., Williams, C. M., Fisher, B. S., Clear, E. R., Garcia, L. S., & Hegge, L. M. (2011). Evaluation of Green Dot: An active bystander intervention to reduce sexual violence on college campuses. *Violence Against Women*, 17(6), 777–796. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801211410264
- Coker, A. L., Smith, P. H., Bethea, L., King, M. R., & McKeown, R. E. (2000). Physical health consequences of physical and psychological intimate partner violence. *Archives of Family Medicine*, 9(5), 451. https://doi.org/10.1001/archfami.9.5.451
- Cooper, A., & Smith, E. L. (2011). *Homicide trends in the United States, 1980-2008*. Bureau of Justice Statistics. https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/htus8008.pdf
- Crooks, C. V., Jaffe, P., Dunlop, C., Kerry, A., & Exner-Cortens, D. (2019). Preventing genderbased violence among adolescents and young adults: Lessons from 25 years of program development and evaluation. *Violence Against Women*, 25(1), 29–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801218815778

- Cui, M., Ueno, K., Gordon, M., & Fincham, F. D. (2013). The continuation of intimate partner violence from adolescence to young adulthood. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 75(2), 300–313. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12016
- De La Rue, L., Polanin, J. R., Espelage, D. L., & Pigott, T. D. (2017). A meta-analysis of school-based interventions aimed to prevent or reduce violence in teen dating relationships.
   *Review of Educational Research*, 87(1), 7–34.
   https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654316632061
- Dobash, R. E., & Dobash, R. P. (1977). Wives: The appropriate victims of marital violence. *Victimology*, 2(3–4), 426–442.
- Dutton, D. G., & White, K. R. (2013). Male victims of domestic violence. *New Male Studies: An International Journal*, 2(1), 5-17.
- Duval, S., & Tweedie, R. (2000). Trim and fill: A simple funnel-plot-based method of testing and adjusting for publication bias in meta-analysis. *Biometrics*, 56(2), 455–463. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0006-341x.2000.00455.x
- Edwards, S. R., & Hinsz, V. B. (2014). A meta-analysis of empirically tested school-based dating violence prevention programs. *SAGE Open*, *4*(2), 2158244014535787. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014535787
- Fellmeth, G. L. T., Heffernan, C., Nurse, J., Habibula, S., & Sethi, D. (2013). Educational and skills-based interventions for preventing relationship and dating violence in adolescents and young adults. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (6), Article CD004534. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004534.pub3
- Ford, C. L., Slavin, T., Hilton, K.L., & Holt S. L. (2013). Intimate partner violence prevention services and resources in Los Angeles: Issues, needs, and challenges for assisting lesbian,

gay, bisexual, and transgender clients. *Health Promotion Practice*, 14(6), 841-849. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839912467645

- Foshee, V. A., Bauman, K. E., Ennett, S. T., Suchindran, C., Benefield, T., & Linder, G. F. (2005). Assessing the effects of the dating violence prevention program "safe dates" using random coefficient regression modeling. *Prevention Science: The Official Journal of the Society for Prevention Research*, 6(3), 245–258. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-005-0007-0
- Foshee, V. A., Benefield, T., Dixon, K. S., Chang, L.-Y., Senkomago, V., Ennett, S. T.,
  Moracco, K. E., & Michael Bowling, J. (2015). The effects of moms and teens for safe
  dates: A dating abuse prevention program for adolescents exposed to domestic violence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 44(5), 995–1010. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-0150272-6
- Foshee, V. A., Linder, G. F., Bauman, K. E., Langwick, S. A., Arriaga, X. B., Heath, J. L., McMahon, P. M., & Bangdiwala, S. (1996). The Safe Dates Project: Theoretical basis, evaluation design, and selected baseline findings. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 12(5 Suppl), 39–47.
- Garcia-Moreno, C., Heise, L., Jansen, H. A. F. M., Ellsberg, M., & Watts, C. (2005). Violence against women. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *310*(5752), 1282–1283. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1121400
- Hawkins, A. J., Carroll, J. S., Doherty, W. J., & Willoughby, B. (2004). A comprehensive framework for marriage education\*. *Family Relations*, 53(5), 547–558. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0197-6664.2004.00064.x

Hawkins, A. J., Clyde, T. L., Doty, J. L., & Avellar, S. (2020). Best practices in family life education program evaluation. *Family Relations*, 69(3), 479–496. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12420

- Hawkins, A. J., Hokanson, S., Loveridge, E., Milius, E., Duncan, M., Booth, M., & Pollard, B.
  (2022). How effective are ACF-funded couple relationship education programs? A metaanalytic study. *Family Process*, 61(3), 970–985. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12739
- Hedges, L. V., & Vevea, J. L. (1998). Fixed- and random-effects models in meta-analysis. *Psychological Methods*, 3(4), 486–504. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.3.4.486
- Heise, L. (2011, December). What works to prevent partner violence? An evidence overview
  [Monograph]. STRIVE Research Consortium, London School of Hygiene and Tropical
  Medicine. http://strive.lshtm.ac.uk/resources/what-works-prevent-partner-violenceevidence-overview
- Hickman, L. J., Jaycox, L. H., & Aronoff, J. (2004). Dating violence among adolescents:
  Prevalence, gender distribution, and prevention program effectiveness. *Trauma, Violence* & *Abuse*, 5(2), 123–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838003262332
- Huedo-Medina, T. B., Sánchez-Meca, J., Marín-Martínez, F., & Botella, J. (2006). Assessing heterogeneity in meta-analysis: Q statistic or I2 index? *Psychological Methods*, 11(2), 193–206. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.11.2.193
- Huss, M. T., Tomkins, A. J., Garbin, C. P., Schopp, R. F., & Kilian, A. (2006). Battered women who kill their abusers: An examination of commonsense notions, cognitions, and judgments. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 21(8), 1063–1080. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260506290206

- Jennings, W. G., Okeem, C., Piquero, A. R., Sellers, C. S., Theobald, D., & Farrington, D. P. (2017). Dating and intimate partner violence among young persons ages 15–30: Evidence from a systematic review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 33, 107–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2017.01.007
- Johns, M. M., Lowry, R., Andrzejewski, J., Barrios, L. C., Demissie, Z., McManus, T., Rasberry, C. N., Robin, L., & Underwood, J. M. (2019). Transgender identity and experiences of violence victimization, substance use, suicide risk, and sexual risk behaviors among high school students—19 states and large urban school districts, 2017. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 68(3), 67–71. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6803a3
- Johns, M. M., Lowry, R., Haderxhanaj, L. T., Rasberry, C. N., Robin, L., Scales, L., Stone, D., & Suarez, N. A. (2020). Trends in violence victimization and suicide risk by sexual identity among high school students—Youth risk behavior survey, United States, 2015–2019. *MMWR Supplements*, 69(1), 19–27. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.su6901a3
- Johnson, M. P. (1995). Patriarchal terrorism and common couple violence: Two forms of violence against women. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 57(2), 283–294. https://doi.org/10.2307/353683
- Johnson, M. P., & Leone, J. M. (2005). The differential effects of intimate terrorism and situational couple violence: Findings from the national violence against women survey. *Journal of Family Issues*, 26(3), 322–349. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X04270345
- Johnson, W. L., Giordano, P. C., Manning, W. D., & Longmore, M. A. (2015). The age-IPV curve: Changes in intimate partner violence perpetration during adolescence and young adulthood. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 44(3), 708–726. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-014-0158-z

Karakurt, G., Koç, E., Çetinsaya, E. E., Ayluçtarhan, Z., & Bolen, S. (2019). Meta-analysis and systematic review for the treatment of perpetrators of intimate partner violence. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *105*, 220–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.08.006

- Karney, B. R., & Bradbury, T. N. (1995). The longitudinal course of marital quality and stability: A review of theory, method, and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, 118(1), 3–34. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.118.1.3
- Kelly, J. B., & Johnson, M. P. (2008). Differentiation among types of intimate partner violence: Research update and implications for interventions. *Family Court Review*, 46(3), 476–499. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-1617.2008.00215.x
- Kelly, V. A. (2004). Psychological abuse of women: A review of the literature. *The Family Journal*, 12(4), 383–388. https://doi.org/10.1177/1066480704267234
- Kim, H. K., Laurent, H. K., Capaldi, D. M., & Feingold, A. (2008). Men's aggression toward women: A 10-year panel study. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 70(5), 1169–1187. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2008.00558.x
- Langer, A., Lawrence, E., & Barry, R. A. (2008). Using a vulnerability-stress-adaptation framework to predict physical aggression trajectories in newlywed marriage. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 76(5), 756–768. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013254
- Langhinrichsen-Rohling, J. (2010). Controversies involving gender and intimate partner violence in the United States. *Sex Roles*, 62(3–4), 179–193. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-009-9628-2

Lee, C., & Wong, J. S. (2022). Examining the effects of teen dating violence prevention programs: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, *18*(1), 1–40. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11292-020-09442-x

- Leen, E., Sorbring, E., Mawer, M., Holdsworth, E., Helsing, B., & Bowen, E. (2013).
  Prevalence, dynamic risk factors and the efficacy of primary interventions for adolescent dating violence: An international review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *18*(1), 159–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2012.11.015
- Leonard, K. E., & Senchak, M. (1996). Prospective prediction of husband marital aggression within newlywed couples. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 105(3), 369–380. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.105.3.369
- Lipsey, M. W., & Wilson, D. B. (2001). Practical meta-analysis. Sage Publications, Inc.

Maguire, M. A. (2018). Evidence-based psychotherapeutic treatment for victims of intimate partner violence: An investigation of the relationship between patient presenting characteristics and treatment (Publication No. 10975323) [Master's thesis, California State University, Long Beach]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. http://www.proquest.com/docview/2151569413/abstract/2DA8368DA0574861PQ/1

Mihalic, S. W., & Elliott, D. (1997). A social learning theory model of marital violence. *Journal* of Family Violence, 12(1), 21–47. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021941816102

Miller, E., Tancredi, D. J., McCauley, H. L., Decker, M. R., Virata, M. C. D., Anderson, H. A., O'Connor, B., & Silverman, J. G. (2013). One-year follow-up of a coach-delivered dating violence prevention program: A cluster randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 45(1), 108–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.03.007

- Miller, E., Tancredi, D. J., McCauley, H. L., Decker, M. R., Virata, M. C. D., Anderson, H. A., Stetkevich, N., Brown, E. W., Moideen, F., & Silverman, J. G. (2012). "Coaching boys into men": A cluster-randomized controlled trial of a dating violence prevention program. *The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, *51*(5), 431–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.01.018
- Min, J.-A., Lee, C.-U., & Lee, C. (2013). Mental health promotion and illness prevention: A challenge for psychiatrists. *Psychiatry Investigation*, 10(4), 307–316. https://doi.org/10.4306/pi.2013.10.4.307
- Moreno, C., Wykes, T., Galderisi, S., Nordentoft, M., Crossley, N., Jones, N., Cannon, M.,
  Correll, C. U., Byrne, L., Carr, S., Chen, E. Y. H., Gorwood, P., Johnson, S., Kärkkäinen,
  H., Krystal, J. H., Lee, J., Lieberman, J., López-Jaramillo, C., Männikkö, M., ... Arango,
  C. (2020). How mental health care should change as a consequence of the COVID-19
  pandemic. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(9), 813–824. https://doi.org/10.1016/S22150366(20)30307-2
- Moss, L., & Fedina, L. (2022). Centering media literacy and cultural tailoring: A scoping review of interventions used to address black adolescent intimate partner violence. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, Article 15248380221090492.
   https://doi.org/10.1177/15248380221090493
- Muftić, L. R., Bouffard, J. A., & Bouffard, L. A. (2007). An exploratory study of women arrested for intimate partner violence: Violent women or violent resistance? *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 22(6), 753–774. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260507300756
- National Research Council (US) and Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on the Prevention of Mental Disorders and Substance Abuse Among Children, Youth, and Young Adults:

Research Advances and Promising Interventions. (2009). *Preventing mental, emotional, and behavioral disorders among young people: Progress and possibilities* (M. E. O'Connell, T. Boat, & K. E. Warner, Eds.). National Academies Press (US). http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK32775/

- Niolon, P. H., Kearns, M., Dills, J., Rambo, K., Irving, S., Armstead, T. L., & Gilbert, L. (2017). Preventing intimate partner violence across the lifespan: A technical package of programs, policies, and practices. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/ipv-technicalpackages.pdf
- Pence, E., Paymar, M., & Ritmeester, T. (1993). Education groups for men who batter: The Duluth Model. Springer Publishing Company.
- Peterson, C., Kearns, M. C., McIntosh, W. L., Estefan, L. F., Nicolaidis, C., McCollister, K. E., Gordon, A., & Florence, C. (2018). Lifetime economic burden of intimate partner violence among U.S. adults. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 55(4), 433–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.04.049
- Pico-Alfonso, M. A., Garcia-Linares, M. I., Celda-Navarro, N., Blasco-Ros, C., Echeburúa, E., & Martinez, M. (2006). The impact of physical, psychological, and sexual intimate male partner violence on women's mental health: Depressive symptoms, posttraumatic stress disorder, state anxiety, and suicide. *Journal of Women's Health*, 15(5), 599–611. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2006.15.599
- Reyes, H. L. M., Foshee, V. A., Niolon, P. H., Reidy, D. E., & Hall, J. E. (2016). Gender role attitudes and male adolescent dating violence perpetration: Normative beliefs as moderators. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 45(2), 350–360. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-015-0278-0

- Rivara, F. P., Anderson, M. L., Fishman, P., Reid, R. J., Bonomi, A. E., Carrell, D., & Thompson, R. S. (2009). Age, period, and cohort effects on intimate partner violence. *Violence and Victims*, 24(5), 627–638. https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.24.5.627
- Roberts, A. L., Gilman, S. E., Fitzmaurice, G., Decker, M. R., & Koenen, K. C. (2010). Witness of intimate partner violence in childhood and perpetration of intimate partner violence in adulthood. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 21(6), 809–818. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181f39f03
- Roberts, B. W., & Mroczek, D. (2008). Personality trait change in adulthood. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 17(1), 31–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00543.x
- Rodriguez, E., Lasch, K. E., Chandra, P., & Lee, J. (2001). Family violence, employment status, welfare benefits, and alcohol drinking in the United States: What is the relation? *Journal* of Epidemiology and Community Health, 55(3), 172–178. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.55.3.172
- Santana, M. C., Raj, A., Decker, M. R., La Marche, A., & Silverman, J. G. (2006). Masculine gender roles associated with increased sexual risk and intimate partner violence perpetration among young adult men. *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, 83(4), 575–585. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-006-9061-6
- Shadish, W. R., Matt, G. E., Navarro, A. M., & Phillips, G. (2000). The effects of psychological therapies under clinically representative conditions: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *126*(4), 512–529. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.126.4.512

- Shook, N. J., Gerrity, D. A., Jurich, J., & Segrist, A. E. (2000). Courtship violence among college students: A comparison of verbally and physically abusive couples. *Journal of Family Violence*, 15(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007532718917
- Shorey, R. C., Zucosky, H., Brasfield, H., Febres, J., Cornelius, T. L., Sage, C., & Stuart, G. L. (2012). Dating violence prevention programming: Directions for future interventions. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 17(4), 289–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2012.03.001

Silverman, A. B. (2000). Evaluating the efficacy of the Rhode Island Teen Dating Violence Prevention Program (TDVPP): A process and outcome approach to determining the success of both primary and secondary prevention projects (Publication No. 9989453)
[Doctoral dissertation, University of Rhode Island]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.

https://www.proquest.com/docview/304620315/abstract/D80C9EBFA39D4280PQ/1

- Smith, S. G., Zhang, X., Basile, K. C., Merrick, M. T., Wang, J., Kresnow, M., & Chen, J. (2018). *The national intimate partner and sexual violence survey: 2015 data brief— Updated release*. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/2015data-brief508.pdf
- Spencer, C. M., Stith, S. M., & King, E. L. (2021). Preventing maltreatment at home: A metaanalysis examining outcomes from online programs. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 31(2), 138-146.
- Stith, S. M., Rosen, K. H., McCollum, E. E., & Thomsen, C. J. (2004). Treating intimate partner violence within intact couple relationships: Outcomes of multi-couple versus individual

couple therapy. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *30*(3), 305–318. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2004.tb01242.x

- Stith, S. M., Smith, D. B., Penn, C. E., Ward, D. B., & Tritt, D. (2004). Intimate partner physical abuse perpetration and victimization risk factors: A meta-analytic review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 10(1), 65–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2003.09.001
- Stockman, J. K., Hayashi, H., & Campbell, J. C. (2015). Intimate partner violence and its health impact on disproportionately affected populations, including minorities and impoverished groups. *Journal of Women's Health*, 24(1), 62–79. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2014.4879
- Storer, H. L., Casey, E., & Herrenkohl, T. (2016). Efficacy of bystander programs to prevent dating abuse among youth and young adults: A review of the literature. *Trauma, Violence* & *Abuse*, 17(3), 256–269. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838015584361
- Stover, C. S., Meadows, A. L., & Kaufman, J. (2009). Interventions for intimate partner violence: Review and implications for evidence-based practice. In *Database of Abstracts* of Reviews of Effects (DARE): Quality-assessed Reviews [Internet]. Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (UK). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK76818/
- Taylor, B., Stein, N., & Burden, F. (2010). The effects of gender violence/harassment prevention programming in middle schools: A randomized experimental evaluation. *Violence and Victims*, 25(2), 202–223. https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.25.2.202
- Taylor, R. D., Oberle, E., Durlak, J. A., & Weissberg, R. P. (2017). Promoting positive youth development through school-based social and emotional learning interventions: A metaanalysis of follow-up effects. *Child Development*, 88(4), 1156–1171. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12864

- Temple, J. R., Shorey, R. C., Tortolero, S. R., Wolfe, D. A., & Stuart, G. L. (2013). Importance of gender and attitudes about violence in the relationship between exposure to interparental violence and the perpetration of teen dating violence. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(5), 343–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.02.001
- Vagi, K. J., Rothman, E. F., Latzman, N. E., Tharp, A. T., Hall, D. M., & Breiding, M. J. (2013). Beyond correlates: A review of risk and protective factors for adolescent dating violence perpetration. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 42(4), 633–649. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-013-9907-7
- Valentine, J. C., Pigott, T. D., & Rothstein, H. R. (2010). How many studies do you need?: A primer on statistical power for meta-analysis. *Journal of Educational and Behavioral Statistics*, 35(2), 215–247. https://doi.org/10.3102/1076998609346961
- Walker, L. E. A., EdD. (2007). *The Battered Woman Syndrome (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.)*. Springer Publishing Company. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/byu/detail.action?docID=423629
- Warshaw, C., Brashler, P., & Gil, J. (2009). Mental health consequences of intimate partner violence. In C. Mitchell & D. Anglin (Eds.), *Intimate partner violence: A health-based perspective* (pp. 147–171). Oxford University Press.
- Wheel Gallery. (n.d.). *Domestic Abuse Intervention Programs*. Retrieved May 11, 2022, from https://www.theduluthmodel.org/wheel-gallery/

Whitfield, C. L., Anda, R. F., Dube, S. R., & Felitti, V. J. (2003). Violent childhood experiences and the risk of intimate partner violence in adults: Assessment in a large health maintenance organization. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 18(2), 166–185. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260502238733

- Wolfe, D. A., Jaffe, P. G., & Crooks, C. V. (2008). Adolescent risk behaviors: Why teens experiment and strategies to keep them safe. Yale University Press.
- Wolfe, D. A., Wekerle, C., Scott, K., Straatman, A.-L., Grasley, C., & Reitzel-Jaffe, D. (2003).
  Dating violence prevention with at-risk youth: A controlled outcome evaluation. *Journal* of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 71(2), 279–291. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x.71.2.279
- Wood, S. L., & Sommers, M. S. (2011). Consequences of intimate partner violence on child witnesses: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing*, 24(4), 223–236. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6171.2011.00302.x

## Appendix A

## **List of Included Studies**

- Adler-Baeder, F., Kerpelman, J. L., Schramm, D. G., Higginbotham, B., & Paulk, A. (2007). The impact of relationship education on adolescents of diverse backgrounds. *Family Relations*, 56(3), 291-303.
- Avery-Leaf, S., Cascardi, M., O'leary, K. D., & Cano, A. (1997). Efficacy of a dating violence prevention program on attitudes justifying aggression. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 21(1), 11-17.
- Boduszek, D., Debowska, A., Jones, A. D., Ma, M., Smith, D., Willmott, D., ... Kirkman, G. (2019). Prosocial video game as an intimate partner violence prevention tool among youth: A randomised controlled trial. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 93, 260-266.
- Braithwaite, S. R., & Fincham, F. D. (2007). ePREP: Computer based prevention of relationship dysfunction, depression and anxiety. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *26*(5), 609-622.
- Braithwaite, S. R., & Fincham, F. D. (2009). A randomized clinical trial of a computer based preventive intervention: Replication and extension of ePREP. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 23(1), 32.
- Braithwaite, S. R., & Fincham, F. D. (2011). Computer-based dissemination: A randomized clinical trial of ePREP using the actor partner interdependence model. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 49(2), 126-131.
- Cares, A. C., Banyard, V. L., Moynihan, M. M., Williams, L. M., Potter, S. J., & Stapleton, J. G. (2015). Changing attitudes about being a bystander to violence: Translating an in-person sexual violence prevention program to a new campus. *Violence Against Women*, 21(2), 165-187.
- Carrascosa Iranzo, L., Cava Caballero, M. J., Buelga Vázquez, S., & Jesus, S. N. D. (2019). Reduction of sexist attitudes, romantic myths, and aggressive behaviors in adolescents: Efficacy of the DARSI program. *Psicothema*, *31*(2), 121–127.
- Coker, A. L., Bush, H. M., Cook-Craig, P. G., DeGue, S. A., Clear, E. R., Brancato, C. J., ... Recktenwald, E. A. (2017). RCT testing bystander effectiveness to reduce violence. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 52(5), 566-578.
- Daigneault, I., Hébert, M., McDuff, P., Michaud, F., Vézina-Gagnon, P., Henry, A., & Porter-Vignola, E. (2015). Effectiveness of a sexual assault awareness and prevention workshop for youth: A 3-month follow-up pragmatic cluster randomization study. *The Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality*, 24(1), 19-30.

- de Graaf, I., de Haas, S., Zaagsma, M., & Wijsen, C. (2016). Effects of rock and water: An intervention to prevent sexual aggression. *Journal of Sexual Aggression*, 22(1), 4-19.
- Edwards, K. M., Banyard, V. L., Sessarego, S. N., Waterman, E. A., Mitchell, K. J., & Chang, H. (2019). Evaluation of a bystander-focused interpersonal violence prevention program with high school students. *Prevention Science*, 20, 488-498.
- Feder, L., Niolon, P. H., Campbell, J., Whitaker, D. J., Brown, J., Rostad, W., & Bacon, S. (2018). An intimate partner violence prevention intervention in a nurse home visitation program: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Women's Health*, 27(12), 1482-1490.
- Fernández-González, L., Calvete, E., & Sánchez-Álvarez, N. (2020). Efficacy of a brief intervention based on an incremental theory of personality in the prevention of adolescent dating violence: A randomized controlled trial. *Psychosocial Intervention*, 29(1) 9-18.
- Foshee, V. A., Reyes, H. L. M., Ennett, S. T., Cance, J. D., Bauman, K. E., & Bowling, J. M. (2012). Assessing the effects of Families for Safe Dates, a family-based teen dating abuse prevention program. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 51(4), 349-356.
- Gardner, S. P., & Boellaard, R. (2007). Does youth relationship education continue to work after a high school class? A longitudinal study. *Family Relations*, 56(5), 490-500.
- Gardner, S. P., Bridges, J. G., Johnson, A., & Pace, H. (2016). Evaluation of the what's real: Myths & facts about marriage curriculum: Differential impacts of gender. *Marriage & Family Review*, 52(6), 579-597.
- Gibbs, A., Washington, L., Abdelatif, N., Chirwa, E., Willan, S., Shai, N., ... Jewkes, R. (2020). Stepping stones and creating futures intervention to prevent intimate partner violence among young people: Cluster randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 66(3), 323-335.
- Gonzalez-Guarda, R. M., Guerra, J. E., Cummings, A. A., Pino, K., & Becerra, M. M. (2015). Examining the preliminary efficacy of a dating violence prevention program for Hispanic adolescents. *The Journal of School Nursing*, 31(6), 411-421.
- Heyman, R. E., Slep, A. M. S., Lorber, M. F., Mitnick, D. M., Xu, S., Baucom, K. J., ... Niolon, P. H. (2019). A randomized, controlled trial of the impact of the couple CARE for parents of newborns program on the prevention of intimate partner violence and relationship problems. *Prevention Science*, 20, 620-631.
- Jaycox, L. H., McCaffrey, D., Eiseman, B., Aronoff, J., Shelley, G. A., Collins, R. L., & Marshall, G. N. (2006). Impact of a school-based dating violence prevention program among Latino teens: Randomized controlled effectiveness trial. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 39(5), 694-704.

- Joppa, M. C., Rizzo, C. J., Nieves, A. V., & Brown, L. K. (2016). Pilot investigation of the Katie Brown educational program: A school-community partnership. *Journal of School Health*, 86(4), 288-297.
- Kalokhe, A. S., Iyer, S., Gadhe, K., Katendra, T., Kolhe, A., Rahane, G., ... Sahay, S. (2021). A couples-based intervention (Ghya Bharari Ekatra) for the primary prevention of intimate partner violence in India: Pilot feasibility and acceptability study. *JMIR Formative Research*, 5(2), Article e26130.
- Krajewski, S. S., Rybarik, M. F., Dosch, M. F., & Gilmore, G. D. (1996). Results of a curriculum intervention with seventh graders regarding violence in relationships. *Journal of Family Violence*, 11, 93-112.
- Langhinrichsen-Rohling, J., & Turner, L. A. (2012). The efficacy of an intimate partner violence prevention program with high-risk adolescent girls: A preliminary test. *Prevention Science*, *13*(4), 384-394.
- Levesque, D. A., Johnson, J. L., Welch, C. A., Prochaska, J. M., & Paiva, A. L. (2016). Teen dating violence prevention: Cluster-randomized trial of Teen Choices, an online, stagebased program for healthy, nonviolent relationships. *Psychology of Violence*, 6(3), 421.
- Macgowan, M. J. (1997). An evaluation of a dating violence prevention program for middle school students. *Violence and Victims*, *12*(3), 223-235.
- Miller, E., Tancredi, D. J., McCauley, H. L., Decker, M. R., Virata, M. C. D., Anderson, H. A., ... Silverman, J. G. (2012). "Coaching boys into men": A cluster-randomized controlled trial of a dating violence prevention program. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 51(5), 431-438.
- Miller, E., Tancredi, D. J., McCauley, H. L., Decker, M. R., Virata, M. C. D., Anderson, H. A., ... Silverman, J. G. (2013). One-year follow-up of a coach-delivered dating violence prevention program: A cluster randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 45(1), 108-112.
- Miller, E., Goldstein, S., McCauley, H. L., Jones, K. A., Dick, R. N., Jetton, J., ... Tancredi, D. J. (2015). A school health center intervention for abusive adolescent relationships: A cluster RCT. *Pediatrics*, 135(1), 76-85.
- Miller, E., Jones, K. A., Ripper, L., Paglisotti, T., Mulbah, P., & Abebe, K. Z. (2020). An athletic coach-delivered middle school gender violence prevention program: A cluster randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 174(3), 241-249.
- Moynihan, M. M., Banyard, V. L., Arnold, J. S., Eckstein, R. P., & Stapleton, J. G. (2011). Sisterhood may be powerful for reducing sexual and intimate partner violence: An evaluation of the bringing in the bystander in-person program with sorority members. *Violence Against Women*, 17(6), 703-719.

- Muñoz-Fernández, N., Ortega-Rivera, J., Nocentini, A., Menesini, E., & Sánchez-Jiménez, V. (2019). The efficacy of the "dat-e adolescence" prevention program in the reduction of dating violence and bullying. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(3), 408.
- Navarro-Pérez, J. J., Oliver, A., Carbonell, Á., & Schneider, B. H. (2020). Effectiveness of a mobile app intervention to prevent dating violence in residential child care. *Psychosocial Intervention*, 29(2), 59-66.
- Peskin, M. F., Markham, C. M., Shegog, R., Baumler, E. R., Addy, R. C., Temple, J. R., ... Tortolero Emery, S. R. (2019). Adolescent dating violence prevention program for early adolescents: The Me & You randomized controlled trial, 2014–2015. *American Journal* of Public Health, 109(10), 1419-1428.
- Peskin, M. F., Markham, C. M., Shegog, R., Baumler, E. R., Addy, R. C., & Tortolero, S. R. (2014). Effects of the It's Your Game... Keep It Real program on dating violence in ethnic-minority middle school youths: A group randomized trial. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104(8), 1471-1477.
- Rizzo, C. J., Houck, C., Barker, D., Collibee, C., Hood, E., & Bala, K. (2021). Project STRONG: An online, parent–son intervention for the prevention of dating violence among early adolescent boys. *Prevention Science*, 22, 193-204.
- Roberts, K. E. C. (2009). An evaluation of the Expect Respect: Preventing Teen Dating Violence high school program (Publication No. 3371596) [Doctoral dissertation, Ohio University].
   ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. https://www.proquest.com/docview/304974563/94CFD6FA3E5849F2PQ/1
- Sanchez-Cesareo, M. (2002). Outcome evaluation of the Youth Project: A school-based teen dating violence prevention program (Publication No. 3076224) [Doctoral dissertation, DePaul University]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. https://www.proquest.com/docview/305508868/BB2D2E42D4C940A8PQ/1
- Sánchez-Jiménez, V., Muñoz-Fernández, N., & Ortega-Rivera, J. (2018). Efficacy evaluation of "Dat-e Adolescence": A dating violence prevention program in Spain. *PLoS One*, 13(10), Article e0205802.
- Santos, K. B. D., Murta, S. G., Vinha, L. G. D. A., & Deus, J. S. D. (2019). Efficacy of a bystander intervention for preventing dating violence in Brazilian adolescents: Short-term evaluation. *Psicologia: Reflexão e Crítica*, 32.
- Schramm, D. G., & Gomez-Scott, J. (2012). Merging relationship education and child abuse prevention knowledge: An evaluation of effectiveness with adolescents. *Marriage & Family Review*, 48(8), 792-808.

- Scull, T. M., Kupersmidt, J. B., Malik, C. V., & Morgan-Lopez, A. A. (2018). Using media literacy education for adolescent sexual health promotion in middle school: Randomized control trial of Media Aware. *Journal of Health Communication*, 23(12), 1051-1063.
- Silverman, A. B. (2000). Evaluating the efficacy of the Rhode Island Teen Dating Violence Prevention Program (TDVPP): A process and outcome approach to determining the success of both primary and secondary prevention projects (Publication No. 9989453)
  [Doctoral dissertation, University of Rhode Island]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.

https://www.proquest.com/docview/304620315/abstract/D80C9EBFA39D4280PQ/1

- Wolfe, D. A., Wekerle, C., Scott, K., Straatman, A. L., Grasley, C., & Reitzel-Jaffe, D. (2003). Dating violence prevention with at-risk youth: A controlled outcome evaluation. *Journal* of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 71(2), 279.
- Wolfe, D. A., Crooks, C., Jaffe, P., Chiodo, D., Hughes, R., Ellis, W., ... Donner, A. (2009). A school-based program to prevent adolescent dating violence: A cluster randomized trial. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine, 163(8), 692-699.
- Wood, R. G., Moore, Q., Clarkwest, A., Killewald, A., & Monahan, S. (2012). The long-term effects of Building Strong Families: A relationship skills education program for unmarried parents (No. 5932425ddd704b58abbe5692e325b576). Mathematica Policy Research.